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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws Statements

contained in this annual report that are not historical fact should be considered forward looking statements Forward-looking

statements include but are not limited to statements regarding plans and objectives of management for future operations or

economic performance or assumptions Words such as anticipate believe continue estimate expect intend
may should will and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive

means of identifying such statements

Such forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to

differ materially from those anticipated as of the date of the filing of this report Although we believe that the expectations

reflected in these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions no assurance can be given that these

expectations will
prove to be correct Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the

expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements include among other things those set forth in Part Item IA
Risk Factors in this report That list of factors is not exhaustive however and these or other factors many of which are

outside of our control could have material adverse effect on us and our results of operations Therefore you should

consider these risk factors with caution and form your own critical and independent conclusions about the likely effect of

these risk factors on our future performance

All forward-looking statements included in this report are based on information available to us on the date of this

report We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement whether as result of new

information future events or otherwise You should carefully review the disclosures and the risk factors described in this and

other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC including our annual

reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K All subsequent written and oral

forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the

cautionary statements contained throughout this report

Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act Disclosure

Our Company qualifies as an emerging growth company as defined in Section 2a19 of the Securities Act of

1933 as amended the Securities Act as amended by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act the JOBS Act An

issuer qualifies as an emerging growth company if it has total annual gross revenues of less than $1.0 billion during its

most recently completed fiscal year and will continue to be deemed an emerging growth company until the earliest of

the last day of the fiscal
year

of the issuer during which it had total annual gross revenues of $1.0 billion or

more

the last day of the fiscal
year

of the issuer following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of

common equity securities of the issuer pursuant to an effective registration statement

the date on which the issuer has during the previous three-year period issued more than $1.0 billion in non-

convertible debt or

the date on which the issuer is deemed to be large accelerated filer as defined in Section 240.12b-2 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act

As an emerging growth company we are exempt from various reporting requirements Specifically Dakota Plains

Holdings Inc is exempt from the following provisions

Section 404b of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 which requires evaluations and reporting related to an

issuers internal controls

Section 4Aa of the Exchange Act which requires an issuer to seek shareholder approval of the

compensation of its executives not less frequently than once every three years and

Section 14Ab of the Exchange Act which requires an issuer to seek shareholder approval of its so-called

ii



golden parachute compensation or compensation upon termination of an employees employment

Under the JOBS Act emerging growth companies may delay adopting new or reviscd accounting standards that have

different effective dates for public and private conipanies
until such time as those standards apply to pri\tte companies We

have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with these new or revised accounting standards Since we

will not be required to comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such

standards is required for other public companies our financial statements may not he comparable to the financial statements

of companies that comply with public company effective dates If we were to elect to comply with these public conipany

effective dates such election would be rrevocable pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act



PART

Item Business

BUSINESS

Overview

Dakota Plains Holdings Inc our Company is principally focused on developing and owning crude oil and related

product transloading facilities and the marketing and transporting of crude oil originating within the Williston Basin of North

Dakota and Montana We compete though our three joint ventures by providing our customers with value-added benefits

including full-service transloading facility competitive pricing and an optimal geographic location that is centrally located

in Mountrail County North Dakota Through our wholly owned subsidiaries we participate in joint venture that markets

crude oil purchased at the wellhead joint venture that transloads crude oil into rail cars at facility we own in New Town
North Dakota and joint venture that transports crude oil by road through our shared trucking fleet each of which is

organized in the form of limited liability company in which our subsidiaries own 50% interest Below is an organizational

chart of our Company

Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Nevada

Dakota Plains

Storage LLC

Minnesota

100% 100% 100% 100%

Dakota Plains

Marketing LLC

Minnesota

50/o

Dakota Plains Dakota Plains

Transloading LLC Trucking LLC

Minnesota Minnesota

50% 50%

Dakota Petroleum Dakota Plains

Transport Solutions LLC Services LLC

Minnesota Minnesota

Because current crude oil production in North Dakota exceeds existing pipeline takeaway capacity we have adopted

crude by rail model According to the North Dakota Pipeline Authority as of December 2012 the crude by rail industry was

handling approximately 64% of the total takeaway up
from approximately 24% as of December 2011 Current pipeline

constraints are limiting the amount of crude takeaway from the Bakken oil fields As such rail transloading facilities are

necessary to efficiently capture an increasing demand for transportation of supplies and product to and from the oil fields

Based on our expectations for increases in demand we also have initiated investments in alternative means to support the

loading marketing and transporting of crude oil and related products to and from the Bakken oil fields including owning or

leasing railcars and other similar capital investments

On March 22 2012 DP Acquisition Corporation wholly owned subsidiary of our Company merged with and into

Dakota Plains Inc the Initial Merger Dakota Plains Inc was originally incorporated under the laws of the State of

Nevada in 2008 under the name Dakota Plains Transport Inc In June 2011 it merged with and into Dakota Plains Inc

Minnesota corporation for
purposes

of reincorporating under the laws of Minnesota

As of March 23 2012 Dakota Plains Inc the surviving corporation from the Initial Merger and then wholly owned

subsidiary of our Company merged with and into MCT Holding Corporation the Second Merger Pursuant to the plan of

merger governing the Second Merger our Company changed its name from MCT I-folding Corporation to Dakota Plains

Holdings Inc

riide Oil Triisloaling Business Segment

In 2009 we completed the acquisition and build-out of our New Town North Dakota transloading facility which is fully

operational and consists of four rail tracks situated on approximately 27.46 acres serviced by Soo Line Railroad Company

doing business as Canadian Pacific We extended the lengths of the rail tracks on our property during 2010 and completed

excavation and grading sufficient to allow for the construction of two additional rail tracks We then completed the

construction of our third and fourth tracks in the summer of 201 On December 29 2011 we acquired an additional 40 acres

of property adjacent to the existing facility In December 2012 we purchased an additional 124 acres of property adjacent to

the existing property We now own approximately 192 contiguous acres in New Town North Dakota accessible by rail



New Towi Facility

Our facility
is centrally located in Mountrail County North Dakota which continues to experience robust drilling

activity in the Williston Basin As of December 31 2012 the facility has capacity for 160 rail carsover 100000 barrels of

crude oilat any given time Our facility
transloaded approximately 7.6 million barrels of crude oil in 2012 37% increase

over 2011 transloaded volume which translated into approximately 11200 rail tank cars and approximately 34600 truck

semi-loads In 2012 our facility experienced daily average of 20771 barrels of crude oil transloaded compared to daily

average of 15265 in 2011 36% increase in daily transloaded volume Our facility only had two days in which it was not in

operation in 2012 compared to 35 days in 2011 This was due to the mild spring and winter experienced in addition to the

efficiencies experienced with the appointment of Strobel Starostka Transfer to manage operations at our facility

New Town is centrally located in the heart of the Parshall Field in Iviountrail County North Dakota Our property was

formerly used to store piping for Amerada Hess and provides easy access to the railway via spur that Canadian Pacific has

constructed Our facility became fully operational in 2009 and currently includes the following features

Private spur connecting the property to the Canadian Pacific Railway

Four fully operational rail lines each of which can service 40 cars collectively 160 rail cars with capacity

for approximately 100000 barrels of crude oil at any time

Fully enclosed electrical system between the existing tracks to provide maximum flexibility when powering

transloading equipment and

Sufficient undeveloped land providing the option to add new tracks storage or various industrial uses to

the
facility

at any time

We designed the
facility

to be developed in multiple stages The current facility has the capacity to transload and/or store

up to 160 rail cars on-site per day the equivalent of more than 100000 barrels

Oil well operators currently are hauling crude oil via semi-truck as far away as 100 miles one way froni New Town to

various crude by rail facilities to load crude oil produced from wells located in the Parshall field onto railway systems at

significant additional cost compared to the services offered by our facility In December 2012 North Dakota produced

769000 barrels of crude oil per day \Ve estimate crude oil production within approximately 75 mile radius of our facility

to represent 80% of the volume or over 615000 barrels per day One of the geographic advantages to our site is the Highway

23 Four Bears Bridge The bridge represents the only means to cross Lake Sakakavvea for approximately 90 miles in either

direction

The facility also can accommodate significant storage of tanker-trucks drilling equipment and other oil exploration

equipment We continue to conceptualize future stages of expansion of the facility which will he designed to increase tanker

car traffic on-site

New Town is located in Mountrail County North Dakota which continues to experience robust drilling activity in the

Williston Basin New Town is located at the entrance to large peninsula in the heart of the Parshall oil field and our facility

straddles the only road providing access to and from the peninsula The peninsula is approximately 150 square miles of land

with 168 spacing units due to their water access to Lake Sakakawea One spacing unit is the equivalent of one square mile

and has the expectation for 12 to 16 wells At 168 spacing units that would equate to over 2000 wells

Transloading Joint Venture

In November 2009 our Company entered into joint venture with Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC PTS
pursuant to which it acquired 50% of the outstanding ownership interests of newly formed entity Dakota Petroleum

Transport Solutions LLC DPTS the transloading joint venture and PTS acquired the remaining 50% ownership

interest PTS is wholly owned subsidiary of Western Petroleum Company which is itself wholly owned subsidiary of

World Fuel Services Corporation WFS



WFS is global leader in the downstream marketing and financing of aviation marine and ground transportation fuel

products and related services Through team of local professionals in 48 countries WFS delivers innovative fuel solutions

and logistics at more than 6000 locations around the world WFS has been publicly held since 1986 and is traded on the

NYSE under the stock symbol INT

Western Petroleum was acquired by WFS due to their extensive history in the marketing and transportation of

hydrocarbons and other products throughout the Midwest and other areas since 1969 Western Petroleum also has substantial

experience with crude oil and petroleum product transloading Western Petroleum now part of WFS Land Division is

headquartered in Minneapolis Minnesota and has regional offices throughout the Unites States This Land Division of WFS

currently supplies over 2000 customers with approximately 100000 barrels per day of refined fuels lubricants and propane

In December 2011 Dakota Plains Inc transferred all of its assets and liabilities excluding its equity interests in its

wholly owned subsidiaries and its real property to Dakota Plains Transloading LLC DPI DPT is wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company that was formed in August 2011 The purpose of DPT is to participate in the ownership and

operation of the New Town facility

Each of the members of DPTS was required to make an initial capital contribution of $50000 Each member received

1000 member units for their initial capital contribution for total of 2000 member units issued and outstanding at

December 31 2012

On June 2012 DPT entered into an amended and restated member control agreement with PTS and DPIS The

amended and restated member control agreement among other things incorporates all previous amendments and

supplements and extends the initial term to December 31 2021 The term of the amended and restated member control

agreement will automatically extend in two-year renewal periods unless and until terminated

The terms of the transloading joint venture require PTS to manage all aspects of the operations and logistics at our

facility as well as provide rail cars and back office support to the project The transloading joint venture is required to pay our

Company monthly rental fee for use of the facility After payment of this rental fee to us as well as other operating

expenses we share all profits equally with PTS

Our transloading joint venture also requires that PTS and our Company assist the transloading joint venture through their

respective contacts with producers marketers transporters refiners and other end-users Under the terms of the joint venture

agreement both PTS and our Company and their affiliates are restricted from participating as an owner investor manager or

consultant in
any hydrocarbon transloading facility anywhere in North Dakota except through our transloading joint venture

We will continue to review and analyze other opportunities in order to expand our footprint in the Williston Basins crude oil

market We believe the vertical integration of this business line has the potential to provide for substantial profits as we

continue to develop the business

During 2010 the transloading joint venture entered into an agreement with UET Shipping LLC VET wholly

owned subsidiary of United Energy Corporation regarding the transloading and storage of crude oil at our facility In July

2011 DPTS amended and restated its agreement with UET that extended their ability to utilize our facility through January

31 2012 The UET contract terminated effective January 31 2012 Subsequent to the termination of the UET contract the

marketing joint venture has been the sole client of DPTS

In September 2012 DPTS engaged Strobel Starostka Transfer to manage the operations of our facility Strobel Starostka

Transfer has extensive experience in designing constructing and operating rail terminals for the energy industry

Crude Oil Marketing Business Segment

Our marketing business segment is comprised of our wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Marketing LLC DPM
In April 2011 DPM entered into joint venture with PTS pursuant to which DPM acquired 50% of the outstanding

ownership interests of newly formed entity DPTS Marketing LLC the marketing joint venture aiid PTS acquired the

remaining 50% ownership interest The marketing joint venture primarily engages in the purchase sale storage transport and

marketing of hydrocarbons produced within North Dakota to or from refineries and other end-users of persons and to conduct

trading activities



Each of the members of DPTS Marketing LLC was required to make an initial capital contribution of $100 Each

member received 1000 member units for their initial capital contribution for total of 2000 member units issued and

outstanding at December 31 2012

Each of the members of DPTS Marketing LLC was also required to make an initial Member Preferred Contribution of

$10000000 to support the trading activities of the marketing joint venture The Company made its Member Preferred

Contribution on May 112011 Upon written agreement of all the members the members may make such additional Member

Preferred Contributions as are agreed upon All Member Preferred Contributions made entitle the member to receive

cumulative preferred return of 5% per annum which preferred return is payable in cash on quarterly basis subject to there

being cash available

DPTS Marketing LLC commenced operations in May 2011 Under provisions of the member control agreement the

profits and losses of DPTS Marketing LLC are allocated in proportion to the number of member units held by each member

or 50/50 Distributions from the marketing joint venture are also payable pro rata based on the number of member units held

by each member

On June 2012 our wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Marketing LLC entered into an amended and restated

member control agreement with PTS and DPTS Marketing LLC The amended and restated member control agreement

among other things incorporates all previous amendments extends the initial term to December 31 2021 and the term will

automatically extend in two-year renewal periods unless and until terminated

In the context of the petroleum industry marketing is the process of purchasing crude oil from the wellhead or in the

field and delivering it to the refinery DPM and PTS and their affiliates including our Company Western Petroleum

Company and WFS are restricted from purchasing selling storing transporting or marketing crude oil or natural gas

originating from production fields anywhere in North Dakota except through the marketing joint venture The marketing

joint venture began purchasing crude oil in July 2011 and ended that month with 56192 barrels purcha.sed The marketing

joint venture sold 7.7 million barrels of crude oil in 2012 compared to 1.2 million barrels of crude oil sold in 2011 526%

increase Average daily barrels sold in 2012 was 21050 barrels compared to 6647 barrels in 2011 217% increase

Under the marketing joint ventures member control agreement PTS has agreed to manage the marketing of crude oil on

behalf of the marketing joint venture We share expenses and profits equally with PTS after payment by the marketing joint

venture of $0.08 per
barrel trading fee and $0.06 per

barrel accounting fee to PTS All production marketed through the

agreement will be concurrently hedged against fluctuations in commodity prices which we believe will substantially mitigate

the market risks associated with the marketing of crude oil

Trucking Business Segment

in August 2012 the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Trucking LLC entered into joint

venture with JPND II LLC JPND The Company and JPND each own 50% of the outstanding member units of the new

joint venture Dakota Plains Services LLC the trucking joint venture The trucking joint venture engages in the

transportation by road of hydrocarbons and materials used or produced in the extraction of hydrocarbons to or from refineries

and other end-users or persons wherever located and any other lawful activities as the board of
governors may determine

from time to time

JPND made an initial capital contribution of approximately $650000 to Dakota Plains Services LLC Dakota Plains

Trucking LLC was not required to make capital contribution Each member received 1000 member units for total of

2000 member units issued and outstanding at December31 2012

The member control agreement of Dakota Plains Services LLC includes provision that JPND will receive all

distributions from the trucking joint venture until the aggregate amount of distributions received is equal to their initial

capital contribution The cash distributions will be
split

in proportion to the number of units held by each member after JPND

has received distributions equal to its capital contribution

Dakota Plains Services LLC commenced operations in September 2012 and ended the year transporting approximately

400000 barrels of crude oil or approximately 3200 barrels day Under provisions of the member control agreement the

profits and losses of Dakota Plains Services LLC are allocated in proportion to the number of member units outstanding



The initial term of the trucking joint venture runs until December 31 2021 and the term will automatically extend in

two-year renewal periods unless and until terminated

Gathering System Opportunity

In addition to the transloading marketing and trucking joint ventures we are constantly pursuing and considering other

opportunities relating to the transportation of crude oil and related products within the Williston Basin We anticipate

investing in other ventures and assets in addition to our transloading marketing and trucking businesses In particular our

Company has been approached by several third parties interested in constructing feeder pipeline also known as gathering

system to transport crude oil from wells directly to our facility gathering system would allow us and our businesses to

captivate significant volume of crude oil for our facility because we anticipate it would be more cost-effective to transport

crude oil through gathering system pipeline than utilizing semi-truck tankers

gathering system would require that we construct storage tanks at our facility in addition to other improvements We

believe constructing storage tanks at our site would provide three primary benefits

Increased consistency of delivery timing and significantly reduced risk of weather impacting our ability to

operate our facility

Increased demand for use of our facility by parties considering gathering systems to enter our facility and trunk

pipelines exiting our facility and

Increased opportunity to capitalize upon short-term market conditions and other marketing opportunities

Though we continue to explore opportunities to work with third parties regarding the construction of feeder pipeline

we have not yet established definitive plans to pursue such an opportunity

Storage Business Opportunity

We currently expect to construct permanent storage solution at our facility North Dakotas crude by rail facilities

collectively have the capability to store an aggregate of approximately 2120000 barrels of crude oil on site at the present

time However approximately 975000 barrels of additional storage capacity are being constructed or have been publicly

announced Accordingly many of our competitors in that geographic region are constructing storage solutions at their

facilities The purchase of the additional
acreage adjacent to our original property will allow us to effectively implement our

storage solution

We have engaged an independent engineering firm with substantial experience designing and managing the building of

storage solutions in the Williston Basin DPTS our indirectly owned subsidiary intends to proceed with the aforementioned

engineering firms storage facility design

Our Strengths

Low Overhead Business Model

Our transloading marketing and trucking businesses are structured in manner that minimizes overhead and leverages

the experience and expertise of third parties to identify and develop appropriate opportunities We believe that most

operational responsibilities can be handled by our current officers and through our joint ventures with PTS and JPND as well

as the use of outside consultants

Strategically Located

According to the US Geological Survey or USGS the Bakken Shale play in North Dakota and Montana has an

estimated 3.0 to 4.3 billion barrels of undiscovered technically recoverable oil The Bakken Formation estimate is larger than

all other current USGS oil assessments of the lower 48 states and is the largest continuous oil accumulation ever assessed

by the USGS December 2012 daily oil production approximated 769000 barrels compared to approximately 535000

barrels in December 2011 44% increase In addition in December 2012 there were approximately 8200 producing wells as

compared to 6600 in December 2011 24% increase with 154 wells being drilled at the end of December 2012 in North

Dakota



Every horizontal drilling rig aiid well site in the Bakken consumes numerous railcars of inbound products each month

on average approximately 40 railcars of materials are required to drill and complete well With several thousand drilling

locations within 15 miles of our facility we believe we have the opportunity to steadily grow our business from within and

the flexibility to constantly pursue accretive investment opportunities We anticipate investing in other ventures and assets in

addition to our facility which will allow us to capture niore volume from operators and marketers by making their crude oil

transportation more cost-effective In the current price environment rail is approximately four times more fuel efficient than

trucks

Significant volume groutli

We believe that our deep market knowledge and strategic position will enable us to benefit from growth opportunities in

the Bakken transloading market by increasing current volumes of business with existing clients and building new

relationships
with leading local producers As such we believe we have sufficient unused capacity at our facility

to

significantly expand our current operations

Couine to grow operating profitability

We remain focused on profitable growth By maintaining our focus on providing greater value to our customers gaining

contracts from leading producers and efficiently managing costs through our non-operated low overhead business model we

believe we can continue to generate positive returns on invested funds As Williston Basin production continues to increase

over the next several years we expect that managements focus on growing our market position by exploiting our strong

geographic positioning will allow for our Companys expansion and ability to meet the diverse crude oil transportation needs

of our customers

Our Customers

Previously significant portion of the income generated froni the transloading joint venture originated from one

customer Our contract with this customer expired on January 31 2012 With DPTS Marketing LLC initiating operations in

July of 2011 our customer accounted for 60% of the transloading joint ventures income with the remaining 40% of the

income generated from DPTS Marketing LLC We have experienced minimum disruption in our business with the loss of

UET as customer DPTS Marketing LLC has been able to secure the volume of oil necessary to offset the loss of volume

from that former customer Our facility transloaded approximately 7.6 million barrels of oil in 2012 37% increase from

2011s volume Under the amended and restated member control agreement
with PTS and DPTS Marketing LLC the initial

term of DPTS Marketing LLC lasts until December 31 202 and the term will automatically extend in two-year renewal

periods unless and until terminated

Competition

The transportation industry is highly competitive Other companies have recently acquired and constructed transloading

facilities to compete with our Company This competition is expected to become increasingly intense as the demand to

transport crude oil in North Dakota has risen in recent years We intend initially to focus on transporting crude oil through the

Canadian Pacific system We intend to compete directly with other parties transporting crude oil using Canadian Pacific the

Burlington Northern Railway various truckiiig and similar concerns the Enhridge pipeline and any other pipelines that are

constructed and operated in North Dakota

Sixteen crude by rail sites are currently operational that could handle approximately 928000 barrels in the aggregate

with one other site planned for construction that could add approximately 70000 barrels Bakken Oil Express in Dickinson

Savage in Trenton and Inergy Midstream in Epping are three of the largest facilities currently operational At full capacity

we believe their sites represent an additional 270000 barrels
per day in consistent take away volume They also represent at

least 1110000 barrels in on-site storage Bakken Oil Express the largest player as of December 2012 is capable of moving

approximately 100000 barrels per day with 210000 barrels in on-site storage and another 200000 barrels of on-site storage

planned With Hess and EOG handling great majority of their own oil the Inergy Midstream Savage and Bakken Oil

Express sites are our new competition Of those the nearest one Inergy Midstream in Epping is in excess of 80 miles one

way US Development also built crude by rail facility in Mountrail County and is our closest crude by rail competitor US

Development was acquired by Plains All American in December 2012 The wells we are targeting are all within the peninsula

or within thirty mile radius outside the peninsula While the new sites will definitely change the landscape we expect the

economics of the total solution will allow us to be competitive and capture as much of the volume in the target geography as

our site can support



Crude by rail also competes with pipeline infrastructure The existing North Dakota and Montana Williston Basin

pipeline infrastructure is capable of handling roughly 450000 barrels per day The pipelines we incorporate here are owned

by Enbridge Tesoro Plains True Companies and others In December 2012 the North Dakota Pipeline Authority reported

that 27% of the Williston Basin oil transport was via pipeline with an incremental 8% going through Tesoros system Of

the total North Dakota and Montana production estimated to have been approximately 840000 barrels per day for December

2012 which means the aggregate pipeline infrastructure utilization was 293650 barrels per day for the same period While

pipeline projects continue to be contemplated the end of 2012 saw ONEOK cancelling their Bakken Crude Express project

Saddle Buttes now owned by Targa Resources High Prairie Pipeline in limbo and substantial underutilization of the

existing pipeline infrastructure

Additionally other transportation companies may compete with us from time to time in obtaining capital from investors

or in funding joint ventures with our prospective partners Competitors include variety of potential investors and larger

companies which in particular may have access to greater resources may be more successful in the recruitment and

retention of qualified employees and may conduct their own refining and petroleum marketing operations which may give

them competitive advantage In addition actual or potential competitors may be strengthened through the acquisition of

additional assets and interests If we are unable to compete effectively or adequately respond to competitive pressures this

inability may materially adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition

Regulatory and Compliance Matters

Our operations are subject to extensive federal state and local environmental laws and regulations concerning among

other things emissions to the air discharges to waters the generation handling storage transportation and disposal of waste

and hazardous materials and the cleanup of hazardous material or petroleum releases Changes to or limits on carbon dioxide

emissions could result in significant capital expenditures to comply with these regulations with respect to our equipment

vehicles and machinery Emission regulations could also adversely affect fuel efficiency and increase operating costs

Further permit requirements or concerns regarding emissions and other forms of pollution could inhibit our ability to build

facilities in strategic locations to facilitate growth and efficient operations Environmental
liability can extend to previously

owned or operated properties leased properties and properties owned by third parties as well as to properties currently

owned and used by our subsidiaries An accidental release of hazardous materials could result in significant loss of life and

extensive property damage In addition insurance premiums charged for some or all of the coverage currently maintained by

our Company could increase dramatically or certain coverage may not be available to our Company in the future if there is

catastrophic event related to transportation of hazardous materials Our Company could incur significant expenses to

investigate and remediate environmental contamination and maintain compliance with licensing or permitting requirements

related to the foregoing any of which could adversely affect our operating results financial condition or liquidity

Employees

We currently have five full time employees We may hire additional employees to support the growth of our business

We believe that most operational responsibilities can be handled by our current employees and through our joint ventures

with PTS and JPND as well as the use of independent consultants We are using and will continue to use the services of

independent consultants and contractors to perform various professional services We believe that this use of third-party

service providers enhances our ability to minimize general and administrative
expenses

Item IA Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves risks You should carefully consider the risks described below in addition to the

other information contained in this report before investing in our common stock Realization of any of the following risks or

adverse results from any matter listed under Forward-Looking Statements could have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition cash flows and results of operations and could result in decline in the trading price of our

common stock You might lose all or part ofyour investment This report also contains forward-looking statements estimates

and projections that involve risks and uncertainties Our actual results could djffer materially from those anticipated in the

forward-looking statements estimates and projections as result of specflc factors including the risks described below



Risks Related to Our Business

We are company with limited operating history fi.r you to evaluate our busiess

Our successor Dakota Plains Transport Inc was incorporated under the laws of Nevada on November 13 2008 We are

engaged in the business of developing transloading facility and other means to support the loading marketing and

transporting of crude oil and related products from and into the North Dakota Williston Basin We have limited operating

history for you to consider in evaluating our business and prospects As such it is difficult for potential investors to evaluate

our business

We experienced negative cash flows from operating and investing activities during 2011 and 2012 primarily due to the

infrastructure investment required to purchase additional land near New Town North Dakota in addition to the loss related to

the enibedded derivative which was partially offset by income from the joint ventures and the gain on the extinguishment of

debt related to the reduction and restructuring of the April 2012 debt Our 2012 financing cash flows were positive due to the

proceeds from the November promissory note issuance Our net cash flow for 2012 was $586418 In 2011 our operating and

financing cash flows were negative primarily due to the infrastructure investment required to purchase additional land near

New Town and the expenses related to the expansion of the facility In addition our Company funded the initial member

preferred contribution of $10000000 required by each member of the marketing joint venture to support the trading

activities Financing cash flows were positive in 2011 due to the proceeds from the equity and promissory notes issuances

Our net cash flow for 2011 was approximately $1.2 million

Our operations are subject to all of the risks difficulties complications and delays frequently encountered in connection

with the formation of any new business as well as those risks that are specific to the transportation and oil industries

Investors should evaluate us in light of the delays expenses problems and uncertainties frequently encountered by

companies developing markets for new products services and technologies We may never overcome these obstacles

Our business is speculative and dependent upon
the implementation of our business plan and our ability to enter into

agreements with third parties for transloading marketing trucking and the leasing of our facility on terms that will be

commercially viable for us Our dependence on third parties will also create significant risks that such third parties may not

fulfill their obligations under appropriate contracts and arrangements or may not be sufficiently staffed or funded to properly

fulfill such obligations consistent with our needs and expectations

Our lack of diversification increases the risk 01011 Il vestment in our Companj and our financial condition and results of

operations may deteriorate if we fail to diversify

Our business has
initially

focused on single rail car transloading facility in New Town North Dakota Since its

inception Dakota Plains had focused solely on generating income through transloading at the facility We are now generating

income from our marketing joint venture We intend to continue to pursue additional business lines including the

transporting and storage of drilling-related products from and into the Williston Basin Our ability to diversify our

investments will depend on our access to additional capital and financing sources and the availability of real property and

other assets required to allow us to load market and transport crude oil and related products

Larger companies have the ability to manage their risk by diversification However we lack diversification in terms of

both the nature and geographic scope of our business As result we will likely he impacted more acutely by factors

affecting the transportation and crude oil industries or the regions in which we operate than we would if our business were

more diversified enhancing our risk profile If we cannot diversify our operations our financial condition and results of

operations could deteriorate

Strategic relations/zips upon vl.iclz we may rely are subject to change which may dimiish our ability to conduct our

operations

Our ability to successfully operate our facility marketing and trucking joint ventures depends on developing and

maintaining close working relationships with industry participants and on our ability to select and evaluate suitable business

arrangements and to consummate transactions in highly competitive environment These relationships are subject to change

and may impair our ability to grow

We are dependent on independent third parties to provide percentage of trucking and all rail and transloading services

and to report certain events to us including delivery information We may not own or control all the transportation assets that

deliver our customers products and we do not expect to employ the people directly involved in transloading products



Dakota Plains entered into the transloading joint venture with PTS subsidiary of Western Petroleum of Eden Prairie

Minnesota in November 2009 Western Petroleum was subsequently purchased by WFS in October 2010 In April 2011 our

wholly owned subsidiary DPM entered into the marketing joint venture with PTS pursuant to which DPM acquired 50% of

the outstanding ownership interests of the marketing joint venture and PTS acquired the remaining 50% ownership interest

Because the transloading and marketing joint ventures are currently our primary means for generating income in addition to

our trucking joint venture we are highly dependent on the personnel and resources of PTS to successfully execute our

business plan In August 2012 our wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Trucking LLC entered into the trucking joint

venture with JPND The Company and JPND each own 50% of the outstanding member units of the trucking joint venture

Dakota Plains Services LLC Our ability to successfully maintain our relationships with PTS and JPND depends on variety

of factors many of which will be entirely outside our control We may not be able to establish these and other strategic

relationships or if established we may not be able to maintain them In addition the dynamics of our relationships with

strategic partners may require us to incur
expenses or undertake activities we would not otherwise be inclined to in order to

fulfill our obligations to these partners or maintain our relationships If our strategic relationships are not established or

maintained our business prospects may be limited which could diminish our ability to conduct our operations

Our reliance on PTS JPND and other third parties could cause delays in reporting certain events including recognizing

revenue and claims If we are unable to secure sufficient equipment or other transportation services to meet our commitments

to our customers our operating results could be materially and adversely affected and our customers could switch to our

competitors temporarily or permanently These risks include

equipment shortages in the transportation industry particularly among rail carriers and parties that lease rail cars

transporting crude oil products

potential accounting disagreements with PTS or JPND

potential substantial additional capital improvements required to maintain facility

interruptions in service or stoppages in transportation as result of labor or other issues

Canadian Pacifics capacity constraints

competing facilities being constructed in close proximity

impact of weather at origin e.g snow flooding cold temperatures on all operations

impact of weather at destinations e.g hurricanes tornadoes flooding

congestion at offloading sites

inadequate storage facilities

changes in regulations impacting transportation and

unanticipated changes in transportation rates

Coinpelition for the loading marketing and traisporting of crude oil and related products may impair our business

The transportation industry is highly competitive Other companies have recently acquired and constructed transloading

facilities to compete
with our Company This competition is expected to become increasingly intense as the demand to

transport crude oil in North Dakota has risen in recent years We intend initially to focus on transporting crude oil through the

Canadian Pacific system We will also compete directly with other parties transporting crude oil using Canadian Pacific the

Burlington Northern Railway various trucking and similar concerns the Enbridge pipeline and any other pipelines that are

constructed and operated in North Dakota Any material increase in the capacity and quality of these alternative methods or

the
passage

of legislation granting greater latitude to them could have an adverse effect on our results of operations financial

condition or liquidity In addition failure to provide the level of service required by our customers could result in loss of

business to competitors Our ability to defend maintain or increase prices for our products and services is in part dependent

on the industrys capacity relative to customer demand and on our ability to differentiate the value delivered by our products

and services from our competitors products and services

Additionally other transportation companies may compete with us from time to time in obtaining capital from investors

or in funding joint ventures with our prospective partners Competitors include variety of potential investors and larger

companies which in particular may have access to greater resources may be more successful in the recruitment and

retention of qualified employees and may conduct their own refining and petroleum marketing operations which may give

them competitive advantage In addition actual or potential competitors may be strengthened through the acquisition of

additional assets and interests If we are unable to compete effectively or adequately respond to competitive pressures
this

inability may materially adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition



We may be unable to obtain additional capital that we will require to implement our business plan v/icl coull restrict

our ability to gro

We expect that our current capital and our other existing resources will be sufficient only to provide limited amount of

working capital and the income generated from our initial operations alone may not be sufficient to fund our expected

continuing opportunities We likely ill require additional capital to continue to operate our business beyond our current

opportunities

Future facility expansions will require substantial amount of additional capital and cash flow There is no guarantee

that we will be able to raise any required additional capital or generate sufficient cash flow from our current operations to

fund our proposed business opportunities

We may pursue sources of additional capital through various financing transactions or arrangements including joint

venturing of projects debt financing equity financing or other nieans We may not be successful in locating suitable

financing transactions in the time period required or at all and we may not obtain the capital we require by other means If

we do not succeed in raising additional capital our resources may not be sufficient to fund our proposed opportunities

Future arrangements with other crude oil marketing firms and operators will require us to expand our facility to meet the

logistical and storage needs that accompany larger throughput commitments Any additional capital raised through the sale of

equity may dilute the ownership percentage
of our shareholders This could also result in decrease in the fair market value

of our equity securities because our assets would be owned by larger pool of outstanding equity Given the attractive return

profiles of our potential customer arrangements we expect that any additional capital required to fulfill our transloading

commitments would be funded through one or more type of debt instruments The terms of securities we issue in future

capital transactions may be more favorable to our new investors and may include preferences superior voting rights and the

issuance of warrants or other derivative securities and issuances of incentive awards under equity employee incentive plans

which may have further dilutive effect

Our ability to obtain needed financing may be impaired by such factors as the capital markets both generally and in the

oil industry in particular our status as relatively new enterprise without significant demonstrated operating history the

single location near New Town North Dakota that we are initially operating which limits our ability to diversify our

activities and/or the loss of key management Further if oil prices or the commodities markets experience significant

volatility or stagnation such market conditions will likely adversely impact our income by decreasing demand for our

services and simultaneously increasing our requirements for capital If the amount of capital we arc able to raise from

financing activities together with our income from operations is not sufficient to satisfy our capital needs even to the extent

that we reduce our operations we may be required to cease our operations

We may incur substantial costs in pursuing future capital financing including investment banking fees legal fees

accounting fees securities law compliance fees printing and distribution expenses and other costs We may also be required

to recognize non-cash expenses
in connection with certain securities we may issue such as convertible notes and warrants

which may adversely impact our financial condition

We may slot be able to effectively manage our growth which may harm our profitability

Our strategy envisions expanding our business If we fail to effectively manage our growth our financial results could be

adversely affected Growth may place strain on our management systems and resources We must continue to refine and

expand our business development capabilities our systems and processes and our access to financing sources As we grow

we must continue to hire train supervise and manage new employees We cannot assure you
that we will be able to

meet our capital needs

expand our systems effectively or efficiently or in timely manner

allocate our human resources optimally

identify and hire qualified employees or retain valued employees or

incorporate effectively the components of any business that we may acquire in our effort to achieve growth
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If we are unable to manage our growth our operations and our financial results could be adversely affected by

inefficiency which could diminish our profitability

Our business may suffer if we do not attract and retain talented personnel

Our success will depend in large measure on the abilities expertise judgment discretion integrity and good faith of our

management and other personnel in conducting our business We have small management team and the loss of key

individual or inability to attract suitably qualified staff could materially adversely impact our business

Our success depends on the ability of our management employees and joint venture partners to interpret market data

correctly and to interpret and respond to economic market and other conditions in order to locate and adopt appropriate

investment opportunities monitor such investments and ultimately if required to successfully divest such investments

Further no assurance can be given that our key personnel will continue their association or employment with us or that

replacement personnel with comparable skills can be found We will seek to ensure that management and any key employees

are appropriately compensated however their services cannot be guaranteed If we are unable to attract and retain key

personnel our business may be adversely affected

We have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards under

Section 102b of the JOBS Act

Under the JOBS Act emerging growth companies may delay adopting new or revised accounting standards that have

different effective dates for public and private companies until such time as those standards apply to private companies We

have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with these new or revised accounting standards and as such

we are not required to have auditor attestation on our internal control over financial reporting ICFR As an accelerated filer

we would otherwise be required to have auditor attestation of ICFR Since we will not be required to comply with new or

revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other public

companies our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of companies that comply with public

company effective dates If we were to elect to comply with these public company effective dates such election would be

irrevocable pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act

Risks Related to Our Industry

Building and operating transloading facility is risky and may not be commercially successful and the advanced

technologies we use cannot eliminate competition and environmental risk which could impair our ability to generate

income fran our operations

Our future success will depend initially on our success in expanding and operating our New Town North Dakota facility

We will be almost entirely dependent on the demand to transport crude oil from wells in relatively close proximity to New

Town

Our ability to generate return on our investments income and our resulting financial performance are significantly

affrcted by the prices oil exploration and production companies receive for crude oil produced from their wells

Especially in recent years the prices at which crude oil trade in the open market have experienced significant volatility

including the expansion of the West Texas Intermediate to both the Brent and Light Louisiana Sweet spread and will likely

continue to fluctuate in the foreseeable future due to variety of influences including but not limited to the following

domestic and foreign demand for crude oil by both refineries and end users

the introduction of alternative forms of fuel to replace or compete with crude oil

domestic and foreign reserves and supply of crude oil

competitive measures implemented by our competitors and domestic and foreign governmental bodies

political climates in nations that traditionally produce and export significant quantities of crude oil including

military and other conflicts in the Middle East and surrounding geographic region and regulations and tariffs

imposed by exporting and importing nations

weather conditions and

domestic and foreign economic volatility and stability
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Demand for oil is subject to factors beyond our control ivisicli may adverse affect our operating results Cluuiges in the

global economy changes in f/ic ability of our customers to access equity or credit inarets and volatility in oil prices could

impact our customers spending levels and our revenues and operating results

The past slowdown in global economic growth and recession in the developed economies resulted in reduced demand for

oil increased spare productive capacity and lower energy prices Weakness or deterioration of the global economy or credit

market could reduce our customers spending levels and reduce our revenues and operating results Incremental weakness in

global economic activity will reduce demand for oil and result in lower oil prices Incremental strength in global economic

activity will create more demand for oil and support higher oil prices in addition demand for oil could be impacted by

environmental regulation including cap and trade legislation carbon taxes and the cost for carbon capture and

sequestration related regulations

Volatility in oil prices can also impact our customers activity levels and spending for our products and services Current

energy prices are important contributors to cash flow for our customers and their ability to fund exploration and development

activities Expectations about future prices and price volatility are important for determining future spending levels

Lower oil prices generally lead to decreased spending by our joint venture customers While higher oil prices generally

lead to increased spending by our joint venture customers sustained high energy prices can be an impediment to economic

growth and can therefore negatively impact spending by our customers Any of these factors could affect the demand for oil

and could have material adverse effect on our results of operations Prolonged periods of low crude oil prices could cause

oil exploration and production to become economically unfeasible Decreased drilling and/or production activities by oil

exploration and production companies could reduce demand for transportation of crude oil and adversely impact our

business decrease in crude oil prices could also adversely impact our ability to raise additional capital to pursue
future

diversification and expansion activities

Our operallons may be adversely affected by competition froiti of/icr energy sources

Crude oil competes with other sources of energy some of which may be less costly on an equivalent energy basis In

addition we cannot predict the effect that tile development of alternative energy sources might have on our operations

Our inability to obtain necessary facilities could hamper our operations

Transporting crude oil and related products is dependent on tile availability of real estate adjacent to railway and

roadways construction materials and contractors transloading equipment transportation methods power
and technical

support in the particular areas where these activities will be conducted and our access to these facilities may be limited

Demand for such limited real estate equipment construction materials and contractors or access restrictions may affect the

availability of such real estate and equipment to us and may delay our business activities The pricing and grading of

appropriate real estate may also be unpredictable and we may be required to make efforts to upgrade and standardize our

facilities which may entail unanticipated costs and delays Shortages and/or the unavailability of necessary
construction

materials contractors and equipment may impair our activities either by delaying our activities increasing our costs or

otherwise

We may have dj/jiculty obtaining crude oil to transport which could harm our financial condition

In order to transport crude oil we depend on our ability and the ability of marketing partners to purchase production

from well operators We also rely on local infrastructure and the availability of transportation for storage and shipment of oil

to our facility but infrastructure development and storage and transportation facilities may be insufficient for our needs at

commercially acceptable terms in the localities in which we operate Well operators may also determine to utilize one or

more of our competitors for any of variety of reasons and any lack of demand for us of our facility and related services

would be particularly problematic

Furthermore weather conditions or natural disasters actions by companies doing business in one or more of the areas in

which we operate or labor disputes may impair the distribution of oil and in turn diminish our financial condition or ability to

maintain our operations
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Supplies of crude oil are subject to factors beyond our control which may adversely affect our operating results

Productive capacity for oil is dependent on our customers decisions to develop and produce oil reserves The ability to

produce oil can be affected by the number and productivity of new wells drilled and completed as well as the rate of

production and resulting depletion of existing wells Advanced technologies such as horizontal drilling and hydraulic

fracturing improve total recovery but also result in more rapid production decline

Increases in our operating expenses will impact our operating results and financial condition

Real estate acquisition construction and regulatory compliance costs including taxes will substantially impact the net

income we derive from the crude oil that we transport
These costs are subject to fluctuations and variation in different

locales in which we will operate and we may not be able to predict or control these costs If these costs exceed our

expectations this may adversely affect our results of operations In addition we may not be able to earn net income at our

predicted levels which may impact our ability to satisfy our obligations

downturn in the economy or change in government policy could negatively impact demand for our services

Significant extended negative changes in economic conditions that impact the producers and consumers of the

commodities transported by our Company may have an adverse effect on our operating results financial condition or

liquidity In addition changes in United States and foreign government policies could change the economic environment and

affect demand for our services For example changes in clean air laws or regulation promoting alternative fuels could reduce

the demand for petroleum Also United States and foreign government agriculture tariffs or subsidies could affect the

demand for petroleum

Penalties we may incur could impair our business

Failure to comply with government regulations could subject us to administrative civil or criminal penalties could

require us to forfeit property rights and may affect the value of our assets We may also be required to take corrective

actions such as installing additional equipment or taking other actions each of which could require us to make substantial

capital expenditures We could also be required to indemnify our third-party contractors joint venture partners and

employees in connection with any expenses or liabilities that they may incur individually in connection with regulatory

action against them As result our future business prospects could deteriorate due to regulatory constraints and our

profitability could be impaired by our obligation to provide such indemnification to our employees

Our Company and the industry in which it operates are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations which

may impose significant costs on its business operations

Our Companys operations are subject to extensive federal state and local environmental laws and regulations

concerning among other things emissions to the air discharges to waters the generation handling storage transportation

and disposal of waste and hazardous materials and the cleanup of hazardous material or petroleum releases Changes to or

limits on carbon dioxide emissions could result in significant capital expenditures to comply with these regulations with

respect to our equipment vehicles and machinery Emission regulations could also adversely affect fuel efficiency and

increase operating costs Further permit requirements or concerns regarding emissions and other forms of pollution could

inhibit our ability to build or operate our facilities in strategic locations to facilitate growth and efficient operations

Environmental liability can extend to previously owned or operated properties leased properties and properties owned by

third parties as well as to properties currently owned and used by our subsidiaries Environmental liabilities may arise from

claims asserted by adjacent landowners or other third parties in toxic tort litigation An accidental release of hazardous

materials could result in significant loss of life and extensive property damage In addition insurance premiums charged for

some or all of the coverage currently maintained by our Company could increase dramatically or certain coverage may not be

available to us in the future if there is catastrophic event related to transportation of hazardous materials Our Company

could incur significant expenses to investigate and remediate environmental contamination and maintain compliance with

licensing or permitting requirements related to the foregoing any of which could adversely affect our operating results

financial condition or liquidity
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Our insurance may be inadequate to cover liabilities may incur

Our involvement in the transportation of crude oil and related products may result in us becoming subject to liability for

pollution property damage personal injury death or other hazards Although we expect to obtain insurance in accordance

with industry standards to address such risks and will attempt to require third parties operating our facilities to indemnify us

for such risks such insurance and indemnification has limitations on liability that may not be sufficient to cover the full

extent of such liabilities In addition such risks may not in all circumstances be insurable or in certain circumstances we

may choose not to obtain insurance to protect against specific risks due to the high premiums associated with such insurance

or for other reasons The payment of such uninsured liabilities would reduce the funds available to us If we suffer

significant event or occurrence that is not fully insured or if the insurer of such event is not solvent we could be required to

divert funds from capital investment or other uses towards covering our liability
for such events and we may not be able to

continue to obtain insurance on commercially reasonable terms

Our business will suffer if we cannot obtain or maintain ecessarp licenses

Our operations require licenses permits and in sonic cases renewals of licenses and permits from various governmental

authorities Our ability to obtain sustain or renew such licenses and permits on acceptable terms is subject to change in

regulations and policies and to the discretion of the applicable governments among other factors Our inability to obtain or

our loss of or denial of extension to any
of these licenses or permits could hamper our ability to produce income from our

operations

challenges to our properties may impact our financial condition

Parties from whom we purchase real estate for our facilities such as railways may not provide warranty deeds ensuring

we receive proper title to our properties While we intend to make appropriate inquiries into the title of properties and other

development rights we acquire title defects may exist In addition we may be unable to obtain adequate insurance for title

defects on commercially reasonable basis or at all If title defects do exist it is possible that we may lose all or portion of

our right title and interests in and to the properties to which the title defects relate If our property rights are reduced our

ability to conduct our business activities may be impaired

IJe vill rely on technology to conduct our business and our technology could become ineffective obsolete or tenporarilv

unavailable

We rely on technology including transloading techniques and economic models to operate our facilities and to guide

our business activities We will be required to continually enhance and update our technology to maintain its effectiveness

and to avoid disuse The costs of doing so may be substantial and may be higher than the costs that we anticipate for

technology maintenance and development If we are unable to maintain the effectiveness of our technology our ability to

manage our business and to compete may be impaired Further even if we are able to maintain technical effectiveness our

technology may not be the most efficient means of reaching our objectives in which case we may incur higher operating

costs than we would were our technology more efficient

Future acts of terrorism or uar us well as the threat of var may cause significant disruptions in our business operations

Terrorist attacks such as those that occurred on September II 2001 as well as the more recent attacks on the

transportation systems in Madrid London and in India and any government response to those types
of attacks and war or risk

of war may adversely affect our results of operations financial condition or liquidity Rail lines and facilities we utilize could

be direct targets or indirect casualties of an act or acts of terror which could cause significant business interruption and result

in increased costs and liabilities and decreased revenues which could have an adverse effect on its operating results and

financial condition Such effects could be niagnified if releases of hazardous materials are involved Any act of terror

retaliatoiy strike sustained military campaign or war or risk of war may have an adverse impact on our operating results and

financial condition by causing or resulting in unpredictable operating or financial conditions including disruptions of rail

lines volatility or sustained increase of fuel prices fuel shortages general economic decline and instability or weakness of

financial markets In addition insurance premiums charged for some or all of the coverage currently maintained by our

Company could increase dramatically or certain coverage may not be available to us in the future

Item Properties

We maintain our principal executive offices at 294 Grove Lane East Wayzata Minnesota 55391 This location is leased

under month-to-month lease arrangement

We own approximately 192 contiguous acres of land in New Town North Dakota upon which we have constructed

facility on our original parcel purchase of 27.5 acres which currently has capacity to service up to 160 rail cars

approximately 100000 barrels of crude oil Based on remaining available space owned today we estiniate that the site can

accommodate future expansions to increase its capacity
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Item Legal Proceedings

We are not currently party to any material legal proceedings From time to time we may be named as defendant in

legal actions arising from our normal business activities We believe that we have obtained adequate insurance coverage or

rights to indemnification in connection with potential legal proceedings that may arise

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

None

PART

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Market Information

Our common stock $0.00 par value per share is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board OTCBB of the Financial

Industry Regulatory Authority Inc FINRA and the OTC Markets QB under the symbol DAKP On March II 2013

the closing price per share of our common stock on the OTCBB was $3.83 As of March II 2013 our common stock was

held by 216 shareholders of record Prior to March 23 2012 our stock had been quoted under the symbol MTHL since

2009

There is no established trading market for our shares of common stock and no assurance can be given that any market

for our common stock will develop or be maintained If an established trading market ever develops in the future the sale

of shares of our common stock that are deemed to be restricted securities pursuant to Rule 144 of the SEC by members of

management or others may have substantial adverse impact on any such niarket With the exception of the shares outlined

below under the heading Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities we believe

all current holders of shares of our common stock have satisfied the six-month holding period requirement of Rule 144

Set forth below are the high and low bid prices for our common stock for each quarter of 2012 and 2011 These bid

prices were obtained from OTC Markets Group Inc formerly known as the Pink Sheets LLC formerly known as the

National Quotation Bureau LLC All prices listed herein reflect inter-dealer prices without retail mark-up mark-down or

commissions and may not represent actual transactions Quotations for our common stock only commenced at the beginning

of the second quarter of 2009

Period High Low

Fiscal Year ended December 31 2012

First Quarter 12.50 7.00

Second Quarter 1200 8.50

Third Quarter 8.75 2.50

Fourth Quarter 4.00 1.75

Fiscal Year ended December 31 2011

First Quarter None None

SecondQuarter 1.01 1.01

Third Quarter None None

Fourth Quarter 1.50 0.30

On January 14 2011 the board of directors of our predecessor Dakota Plains Inc declared dividend payable to all its

shareholders of record as of January 14 2011 The dividend was declared in an effort to spread the distribution of positive

cash flow throughout 2011 Each Dakota Plains Inc shareholder was given the opportunity to receive the dividend as either

$0.10 cash dividend for each share owned or ii dividend of 0.0645 share of common stock rounded up to the nearest

whole share for each share owned Dakota Plains Inc paid aggregate cash dividends of $1941632 and issued an additional

1441774 shares of common stock as result of the dividend
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We intend to retain our future earnings if any to finance the expansion and growth of our business We do not expect to

pay
cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future Payment of future cash dividends if any will be at the

discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors including our financial condition operating

results current and anticipated cash needs outstanding indebtedness and plans for expansion and restrictions imposed by

lenders if any

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the 9-month cumulative total shareholder returns siiice completion of our merger on

March 23 2012 and the cumulative total returns of the Russell 3000 Index and the Amex Oil Index for the same period

This graph assumes $100 was invested on March 23 2012 and also assumes the reinvestment of dividends We have not

included any graph for
any period prior to March 23 20 12 because there was no active trading in our common stock prior to

March 23 2012

$150.00

$125.00

$0.00

3/23/2012 12/31/2012

DAKP Arncx Oil Index URussell 3000

The following table sets forth the total returns utilized to generate
the foregoing graph

3/2312012 12/31/2012

Dakota Plains I-Ioldingc Inc 10000 29 55

Russell 3000 Index 100.00 81.00

ArnexOil Index 10000 10220

Securities utlwrized for Issuance Under Equity compensation Plans

The following table provides information about shares that may be issued under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan as of

December 31 2012 We do not have ally other equity compensation plans required to be included in this table

Number of Securities to Be \Veighted Average Exercise Number of Securities

Issued upon Exercise of Price of Outstanding Remaining Available for

Outstanding Options Options Warrants and Future Issuance Under

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Rights Equity Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 215625 $2.90 1742813

Consists of the 20
Equity Incentive Plan which allows for awards in the form of restricted or unrestricted stock incentive or non-statutory

stock
options

stock appreciation rights perlorunance-based and other stock-based awards

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None
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Item Selected Financial Data

FIVE-YEAR SELECTED FiNANCIAL DATA
Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

The financial statement information set forth below is derived from our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for the

years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 included elsewhere in this report Balance sheet information at December

31 2009 and financial statement information for the
year

ended December 31 2009 is derived from audited financial

statements not included in this report which financial statements were the historical financial statements of Dakota Plains

Inc our company prior to the Initial Merger and the Second Merger in March 2012

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Income Statement inrormation

Revenues

Rental Income- Related arty 266483 314581 163427 19161

Total Operating Expenses 3067220 4056341 200.988 84.403

Loss From Operations 2800737 3741760 37561 65242

Other Income Expense

Income Loss from Investment in Dakota Petroleum Transpoti Solutions LLC 3511999 4236779 1117608 4027

Income from 1nestment in DPTS Marketing LLC 10411596 2314279

Interest
Expense Net of Interest Income 29211978 3371812 1259 19024

Gain Loss on Extinguishment of Debt 14708909 4552560

Other Expense 2777

Total Other Income Expense 580474 1376031 1118867 23051

Income Loss Before Income Taxes 3381211 5117791 1081306 88293

Income Tax Provisionl3enef 1380541 2007000 416000 33.000

Nd Income Loss 2.000670 3110791 665306 55293

Net income Loss Per Common Share Basic and Diluted 0.05 0.09 002 000

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding Basin and Diluted 39792973 35214940 30122634 25547556

Balance Sheet Inrormation

Total Assets 39664657 22447871 3766009 2350682

Total Liabilities 27301375 15363604 886641 835848

Stockholders Equity $12363282 7084267 2879368 1514834

Statement of Cath FIos Information

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 3810092 2095727 427686 49255

Net cash used in Investing activities 1003027 8836016 925485 1036558

Net cash provided by financing acitvitieu 5399537 12110118 412500 1746402

Neither our predecessor Dakota Plains Inc nor any of its predecessor entities were operational in 2008
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction

with the financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report This discussion and analysis contains

forwardlooking statements that involve risks and uncertainties Our actual results may difiŁr material/v from those

anticipated in these fnvardlooking statements as result of various factors including those set /brth under Risk Factors

and elsewhere in this report See a/so Forward-Looking Statemnenis

Overview

We are principally focused on developing and owning transloading facilities marketing and transporting crude oil and

related products within the Williston Basin We compete through our joint ventures by providing our customers with value-

added benefits including full-service transloading facility competitive pricing and optimal geographical location that is

centrally located in Mountrail County North Dakota which continues to experience the most drilling activity in the Williston

Basin Currently we have transloading joint venture marketing joint venture and trucking joint venture each of which

is organized in the form of limited liability company of which we hold 50% membership interest

In November 2009 we entered into an operating lease agreement with Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

DPTS the transloading joint venture in which our wholly owned subsidiary owns 50% ownership interest The lease

will automatically terminate when the member control agreement governing DPTS is terminated In June 2012 that member

control agreement was amended to among other things extend the term of the agreement to December 31 2021 which will

automatically extend in two-year renewal periods until terminated

Under lease the Company receives monthly lease payments from the transloading joint venture The lease agreement

includes provisions that allow the Company to collect additional rents if the Company incurs certain additional costs related

to the equipment and facility The transloading joint venture generates income primarily from per-barrel fee charged when

crude oil is transloaded into tank railcar located at the facility that it leases from the Company Currently crude oil is

transloaded from semi-trailer trucks owned and operated by the Companys trucking joint venture and third parties into tank

railcars through mobile transloader Using this method the Companys site has the capacity to transload approximately

50000 barrels per day

The marketing joint venture purchases barrels of crude oil from well
operators at the wellhead and from first purchasers

delivering to our crude by rail facility We then coordinate the transportation of the purchased crude oil to purchaser at

location determined by the purchaser Potential purchasers include storage facilities blending facilities distributors and

refineries The following reflects step-by-step process on how the marketing business operates

The marketing joint venture enters into purchase and sale agreement with producer or first purchaser

During the contracted month the marketing joint venture sends both Dakota Plains Services LLC trucks and third

party trucking firms to pick up the barrels from certain wellhead locations specified by the producer or receives the

barrels delivered in New Town

As specified in the purchase and sale agreement title to the crude oil transfers from the producer seller to DPTS

Marketing LLC purchaser at the time it

passes through the trucks flange at the well or at our crude by rail site

The crude oil is transported by truck to our facility where it is transferred from the truck to railcar

Canadian Pacific then picks up the crude oil at our facility in New Town North Dakota and delivers it to several

locations using arrangements
with other class and short line railroads where DPTS Marketing LLC sells the crude

oil to its final customer

On June 2012 our wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Marketing LLC entered into an amended and restated

member control agreement with PTS and DPTS Marketing LLC The amended and restated member control agreement

among other things incorporates all previous amendments extends the initial term of DPTS Marketing LLC until December

31 2021 and the term will automatically extend in two-year renewal periods unless and until terminated

In early September 2012 our wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Trucking LLC formed joint venture with

JPND II LLC JPND The Company and JPND each own 50% of Dakota Plains Services LLC the trucking joint

venture The trucking joint venture was formed to engage
in the transportation by road of hydrocarbons and materials used

or produced in the extraction of hydrocarbons to or from refineries and other end-users or persons wherever located and any

other lawful activities as the board of governors may determine from time to time The initial term of the trucking joint

venture runs until December 31 2022 the term will automatically extend in two-year renewal periods unless and until

terminated
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Current Business Drivers

As reported by the USGS the North Dakota Industrial Commission currently predicts that the Bakkens production will

increase for many years common date for production plateau is between the years of 2022 to 2024

The prices at which crude oil trade in the open market have experienced significant volatility and will likely continue to

fluctuate in the foreseeable future due to variety of influences including but not limited to the following

domestic and foreign demand for crude oil by both refineries and end users

the introduction of alternative forms of fuel to replace or compete with crude oil

domestic and foreign reserves and supply of crude oil

competitive measures implemented by our competitors and domestic and foreign governmental bodies

political climates in nations that traditionally produce and export significant quantities of crude oil including

military and other conflicts in the Middle East and surrounding geographic region and regulations and tariffs

imposed by exporting and importing nations

weather conditions and

domestic and foreign economic volatility and stability

Lack of capacity within the trunk pipelines is driving competition within the transloading and storage industry This

competition is expected to become increasingly intense as the demand to transport crude oil in North Dakota has risen in

recent years

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Nev Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
that are adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date If not discussed management believes that the impact of

recently issued standards which are not yet effective will not have material impact on the Companys consolidated

financial statements upon adoption

Presentation of Comprehensive income

In June 2011 the FASB issued Comprehensive Income Topic 220 Presentation of Comprehensive Income ASU
No 2011 -05 The guidance eliminates the option of presenting components of other comprehensive income as part of the

statement of stockholders equity The standard will allow the Company the option to present the total of comprehensive

income the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income in either single continuous

statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements In December 2011 the FASB issued

Comprehensive Income Topic 220 Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of

Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No 2011-05

ASU No 2011-12 The FASB indefinitely deferred the effective date for the guidance related to the presentation of

reclassifications of items out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component in both the statement in which net

income is presented and the statement in which other comprehensive income is presented The standard except for the

portion that was indefinitely deferred became effective for the Company on January 2012 and must be applied

retrospectively On January 2012 the Company adopted this standard on disclosure and it did not impact the Companys

results of operations financial position or cash flows

Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRS

In May 2011 the FASB issued Fair Value Measurement Topic 820 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value

Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRS ASU No 2011-04 The standard generally clarifies the

application of existing requirements on topics including the concepts of highest and best use and valuation premise and

disclosing quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used in the measurement of instruments categorized within

Level of the fair value hierarchy Additionally the standard includes changes on topics such as measuring fair value of

financial instruments that are managed within portfolio and additional disclosure for fair value measurements categorized

within Level of the fair value hierarchy This standard became effective for the Company on January 2012 The standard

requires additional disclosures but it will not impact the Companys results of operations financial position or cash flows

On January 2012 the Company adopted this standard on disclosure and it did not impact the Companys results of

operations financial position or cash flows
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These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

in the United States of America GAAP The preparation of these financial statements and disclosures requires the

application of appropriate technical accounting rules and guidance as well as the use of estimates and judgments that affect

the reported amount of assets liabilities revenue and
expenses The application of these policies involves judgments

regarding future events and legal and regulatory challenges In addition the financial and operating environment may also

have significant effect not only on the operation of the business but on the results reported through the application of

accounting measures used in preparing the financial statements and related disclosures even if the nature of the accounting

policies have not changed From time to time new accounting pronouncements are issued by FASB that are adopted by us as

of the specified effective date If not discussed we believe that the impact of recently issued standards which are not yet

effective will not have material impact on our Companys consolidated financial statements upon adoption

Joint Venture Equity Investment

The equity method is used to account for investments in joint ventures where the Company has significant influence

representing equity ownership of not more than 50% As further described in Note the Companys equity investments

consist of 50% owned Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC DPTS joint venture 50% owned DPTS Marketing

LLC DPTSM joint venture and 50% owned Dakota Plains Services LLC DPS joint venture DPTS DPTSM and

DPS have December 31 fiscal year ends and the Company records its 50% share of the joint ventures net income or loss

based on their most recent annual audited financial statements The Companys share of the joint ventures operating results

for each fiscal year is adjusted for its share of intercompany transactions which primarily relate to rental agreements Any

significant unrealized intercompany profits or losses are eliminated in applying the equity method of accounting

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance whereby declines in estimated investment fair value below

carrying value assessed as other than temporary are recognized as charge to earnings to reduce carrying value to estiniated

fair value The Company periodically evaluates its equity investments for possible declines in value and determines if

declines are other than temporary based on among other factors the sufficiency and outcome of equity investee performed

impairment assessments which includes third party appraisals and other analyses the amount and length of time that fair

value may have been below carrying value near-term and longer-term operating and financial
prospects of equity investees

and the Companys intent and ability to hold the equity investments for period of time sufficient to allow for any

anticipated recovery

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records
expenses associated with the fair value of stock-based compensation For restricted stock grants

the Company calculates the stock based compensation expense based upon estimated fair value on the date of grant For

stock warrants and options the Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to calculate stock based

compensation at the date of
grant Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the

expected price volatility Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate

Stock issuance

The Company records the stock-based compensation awards issued to non-employees and other external entities for

goods and services at either the fair market value of the goods received or services rendered or the instruments issued in

exchange for such services whichever is niore readily determinable using the measurement date guidelines enumerated in

FASB ASC 505-50-30

Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2012 vs Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2011

Our Company experienced net loss of $2.0 million for the fiscal year ended Deceniber 31 2012 compared to net loss

of $3.1 million for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 The net loss was mainly driven by the expense related to an

embedded derivative The increase in the fair market of the embedded derivative from December 31 2011 to April 21 2012

was approximately $27.3 million and was recorded as interest expense The increase in interest expense of $25.8 million was

offset by reduction in general and administrative expenses which were mainly driven by decrease in consulting related

expenses of approximately $2.4 million an increase in income from our investment in DPTS Marketing LLC the marketing

joint venture equaling $10.4 million in 2012 compared to $2.3 million in 2011 and the gain on extinguishment of debt of

$14.7 million from the restructuring and reduction of the debt related to the additional payment provision included on the

promissory notes issued in 2011 The marketing joint venture was formed in April 2011 and began operating in July 2011

We also recognized rental income of $266000 in the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 compared to $315000 in the

fiscal year ended December 31 2011 The decrease in rental income was due to the extension of the marketing joint venture

contracts in June 2012 which caused the rental income recognized by us to decrease as the derred rent is being amortized

over longer time period this was partially offset by the increase in the rent received from DPTS which began in June 2012
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Gain on extinguishment of debt for the year
ended December 31 2012 was $14.7 million compared to loss on

extinguishment of debt of $4.6 million for the year ended December 31 2011 The gain on extinguishment of debt relates to

the forgiveness of debt that occurred with the restructuring and reduction of debt in November 2012 The original value of

the debt was approximately $32.9 million The new value resulting from the forgiveness of debt is approximately $18.2

million The difference is the gain recognized in 2012 The 2011 loss on the extinguishment of debt related to the exchange

of the $3.5 million senior notes and $5.5 million junior notes for the $9.0 million promissory notes The loss on the

extinguishment of debt was comprised of the $180000 exchange fee paid to the holders of the junior and senior notes and the

approximately $4.4 million fair value of the embedded derivative included in the $9.0 million promissory notes

DPTS Marketing LLC earned net income of $20.8 million for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2012 compared to

net income of $4.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 The increase in net income was mainly driven by

the fact that the first month of physical activity was July 2011 as result there were only six months of activity for the fiscal

year ended December 31 2011 compared to full twelve months of activity for the year ended December 31 2012 The

increase in net income was also driven by year-over-year
increase in average barrels sold per day of approximately 217%

The Company owns 50% of DPTS Marketing LLC and therefore reports 50% of the net income on our consoldiated

statements of operations

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC earned net income of $6.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 31

2012 compared to net income of $7.8 million for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 The decrease in net income was

mainly driven by an increase in general and administrative expenses of approximately $3.1 million related to professional

fees and cost of revenue of approximately $1.9 million Those increases were partially offset by an increase in revenue of

approximately $4.1 million which was the direct result of transloading approximately 2.1 million more barrels in 2012 than

in 2011 The Company owns 50% of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC and therefore reports 50% of the net

income on our consolidated statements of operations

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2011 vs Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2010

Our Company experienced net loss of $3.1 million for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 compared to net

income of $665000 for the fiscal year
ended December 31 2010 The net loss was mainly driven by the expenses related to

the loss on the extinguishment of debt and the period change in fair value of the embedded derivative reflected in interest

expense
In addition there was also an increase in general and administrative expenses

related to share based compensation

to employees directors and consultants The higher expenses were partially offset by increases in income from our

investment in DPTS and DPTS Marketing LLC equaling $4.2 million and $2.3 million respectively The DPTS joint venture

commenced operations in November 2009 but did not initiate the transloading of crude oil until August 2010 The DPTS

Marketing LLC joint venture was formed in April 2011 and began operating in July 2011 We also recognized rental income

of $315000 in the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 compared to $163000 in the fiscal year
ended December 31 2010

Loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31 2011 was $4.6 million The loss on the extinguishment

of debt related to the exchange of the senior and junior promissory notes for our currently outstanding promissory notes The

loss on extinguishment of debt is comprised of the $180000 exchange fee paid to the holders of the junior and senior

promissory notes and the $4.4 million fair value of the embedded derivative included in our outstanding promissory notes

The fair value of the embedded derivative included in our outstanding promissory notes increased by $1.2 million during

the year ended December 31 201 The increase in the fair value of the embedded derivative was due to the increased

probability that public listing would occur and trigger payment of the enibedded derivative as compared to when the

promissory notes were issued

Depreciation and amortization increased due to additions relating to the build out and development of the crude oil

transloading site in New Town North Dakota

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC experienced net income of $7.8 million for the fiscal year ended

December 31 2011 compared to net income of $1.9 million for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase in

net income was mainly driven by the fact that the joint venture did not begin transloading crude oil until August 2010 as

result there were only five months of transloading activity related to crude oil in 2010 compared to full twelve months of

crude oil transloading in 2011

Non-CAAP Financial Measures

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income before interest expense ii income taxes iii depreciation and

amortization iv gain loss on extinguishment of debt and non-cash expenses relating to share based amounts

recognized under ASC Topic 718 Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31 2012 was $11.8 million compared to

$5.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 and $1.2 million for fiscal year ended December 31 2010 The

increase in Adjusted EBITDA is primarily due to the income from our investments in the transloading and marketing joint

ventures
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Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended

December31

2012 2011 2010

Net Income L.oss 2000670 3110791 665306

Add Back

Income TaxProvision Benefit 1380541 2007000 416000

Depreciation and Amortization 165313 159275 90929

Share Based Compensation Employees and Directors 502604 510756

Share Based Compensation Consultants 2168000 46728

Interest Expense 29211978 3371812

1oss thinon Extinguishment of Debt 14.708.909 4.552.500

AdjustedEBITDA 11789.775 5644552 1218963

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP financial measure as defined by the SEC and is derived from net income which is the

most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP We believe presenting Adjusted EBITDA

provides useful information to investors to gain an overall understanding of our current financial performance Specifically

we believe the non-GAAP financial measure included herein provides useful information to both management and investors

by excluding certain expenses that our management believes are not indicative of our operating results In addition the non

GAAP financial measure is used by our management for budgeting and forecasting as well as subsequently measuring our

performance and we believe that we are providing investors with financial measure that most closely align to our internal

measurement processes

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and our additional financing capacity which is

dependent upon capital and credit market conditions and our financial performance Our cash and cash equivalents were $2.3

million at December 31 2012 Our cash in 2012 was primarily generated from the priority cash distributions received from

the DPTS joint venture in the first quarter in addition to the $6.1 million in new money generated from the November debt

offering Our cash aiid cash equivalents were $1.8 million at December 31 2011 The primary sources of capital generated

were from proceeds related to the issuance of equity and debt in addition to priority cash distributions received from the

DPTS joint venture

Embedded Derivative

On November 2011 Dakota Plains Inc entered into an Exchange and Loan Agreement with the holders of $3.5

million aggregate principal aniount of its promissory notes due January 31 2012 the Senior Notes and $5.5 million

aggregate principal amount of its promissory notes due October 14 2012 the Junior Notes Pursuant to an Exchange and

Loan Agreement with each holder of Senior and Junior Notes each holder agreed to surrender and void their Senior and

Junior Notes in exchange for an equivalent principal amount of replacement promissory notes due March 2013 Notes

due March 2013 The Notes due March 2013 bore interest at the rate of 120% pet annum payable in arrears on the last

day of each fiscal quarter

The Notes due March 2013 included an additional payment provision similar to the additional payment provision

included in the Junior Notes which were replaced by portion of the Notes due March 2013 The additional payment

provision provided that upon public Listing
of the issuer if the initial trading price as defined in the Exchange and Loan

Agreements exceeded $2.50 then the holder would be entitled to receive an additional payment equal to the remainder to

the extent positive of the unpaid principal amount of the promissory note multiplied by the initial trading price and

divided by $2.50 minus the unpaid principal amount of the promissory note The holders of the Notes due March 2013

could elect to receive the additional payment in either number of shares of the issuers common stock equal to the

additional payment divided by $4.00 or ii subordinated promissory note having principal amount equal to the additional

payment bearing no interest for three calendar months after issuance and 12% simple annual interest thereafter due and

payable on the one-year anniversary of the issue date of such promissory note
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In conncction with the issuance of the Notes due March 2013 each holder of Senior and Junior Notes received from

Dakota Plains Inc at the holders election either cash payment equal to 2.0% of the aggregate principal amount of the

Senior and Junior Notes exchanged Cash Extension Fee or ii number of shares of Dakota Plains Inc common stock

equal to the Cash Extension Fee divided by $4.00 Dakota Plains Inc paid $150000 in cash for the Cash Extension Fee and

issued 7500 shares of its common stock The fair value of the Cash Extension Fee and the shares of Dakota Plains Inc

common stock issued $180000 has been reported on our consolidated statement of operations as loss on extinguishment of

debt for the
year

ended December 31 2011 In connection with the exchange Dakota Plains Inc wrote-off debt issuance

costs of $336704 in 2011 which are recorded as interest expense in our Companys consolidated statement of operations

The additional payment provision in the Notes due March 2013 was considered an embedded derivative The embedded

derivative was reported as current
liability on our Companys consolidated balance sheet at fair value at December 31

2011 The fair value of the embedded derivative at December 31 2011 was calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation

valuation model based on factors present at the date valued In May 2012 the additional payment required was satisfied with

the issuance of $27.7 million aggregate principal amount of 12.0% promissory notes due April 21 2013 Notes due April

2013 and 1296963 shares of our Companys common stock In November 2012 the additional payment and our

outstanding debt was further restructured as described below

Debt Restructuring

In connection with the private placement of 12.0% unsecured senior promissory notes due October 31 2015 Notes due

October 2015 discussed below we entered into Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreements with each of the

holders of our outstanding Notes due March 2013 pursuant to which we reduced the additional payment due under those

notes to reflect an initial trading price equal to $7.776 derived from the average closing price of the companys common

stock during the 150 trading days immediately following March 23 2012 The revised calculation resulted in reduced

additional payment of approximately $19.0 million the Reduced Payment reduction of approximately $14 million or

42%

Pursuant to the Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreements all of the holders of our Notes due March 2013

agreed to surrender and void approximately $27.7 aggregate principal amount of Notes due April 2013 and 483088 shares of

our common stock all of which were issued by us as satisfaction of the additional payments as originally calculated and paid

in May 2012 as discussed above As result of revised elections by the holders we issued in satisfaction of the Reduced

Payment approximately $12.0 million aggregate principal amount of Notes due October 2015 and 460112 additional shares

of our common stock based on an index price of $4.00 per
share

In addition the holders of approximately $3.9 million of the $9.0 million outstanding aggregate principal amount of our

Notes due March 2013 tendered their notes in exchange for Notes due October 2015 and the holders of an additional

approximately $4.6 million aggregate principal amount of our Notes due March 2013 tendered their notes in exchange for

new 12.0% senior unsecured promissory notes due March 2014 Notes due March 2011 The terms of the Notes due

March 2014 are substantially similar to the Notes due March 2013 with the exception of an extended maturity date

As part of the note exchanges we paid to the holders of our outstanding promissory notes approximately $410000

representing interest that would have accrued had the additional payment been reduced in advance of its original issuance in

May 2012 The Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreements provide for customary representations from the Lenders

as defined therein and provide indemnification rights to the Lenders in exchange for their agreement to participate in the

transaction

On November 2012 pursuant to an Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreement we repaid the outstanding

principal to holder of the Note due March 2013 in the amount of $500000

Debt Placement

On November 2012 we completed private placement of debt including an extension and reduction of significant

portion of our outstanding debt We issued $22.0 million aggregate principal amount of Notes due October 2015 In addition

to $6.14 million aggregate principal amount of Notes due October 2015 issued for cash approximately $3.9 million

aggregate principal amount of Notes due October 2015 were issued in exchange for an equivalent principal amount of our

outstanding Notes due March 2013 and approximately $11.96 million aggregate principal amount of Notes due October 2015

were issued for all of our promissory notes issued in satisfaction of the Reduced Payment as discussed above
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Joint Venture Distributions and Payments

The transloading joint venture distributes cash payment on monthly basis using calculation that considers the

months ending cash balance less third party expenses both current and due over the next 30 days The ending amount is the

priority cash available Any joint venture member transaction payments due are deducted from the priority cash available

The ending balance which is the priority cash remaining is then multiplied by 50% which is the required distribution

amount The distribution amount is then evenly distributed between Dakota Plains Transloading LLC and PTS Dakota

Plains Transloading LLC received regular cash distribution from the transloading joint venture in January and March 2012

and cash distribution in March 2011 and distributions in July through December 2011 However beginning in April 2012

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC has temporarily suspended regular distributions to conserve capital in order to

fund general capital improvements and capacity expansion at our New Town North Dakota transloading facility

The marketing joint venture determines if there will be cash distribution on quarterly basis The distribution is based

on the quarters ending cash balance less the required member preferred initial contribution of $20 million less the preferred

return payable to members less the trading activities incurred during the current quarter less the forecasted next quarters

operating expenses and cash necessary to fund trading activities through the next quarter The net balance will be the priority

cash available at an agreed upon percentage between Dakota Plains Marketing LLC and PTS There were no cash

distributions in 2012 and 2011

JPND will receive all distributions from the trucking joint venture until the aggregate amount of distributions received is

equal to their total capital contribution of which approximately $858000 remained to be repaid as of December 31 2012

After the payments to JPND have offset their initial capital contribution cash distributions from the trucking joint venture

will be allocated in proportion to the outstanding units

capitai Expenditures

Our short- and long-term future cash needs will involve supporting the loading marketing and transporting of crude oil

and related products from and into the Williston Basiii fields We intend to expand our existing facility to meet the growing

logistical and storage needs of existing and future arrangements This will include the construction of storage facility which

will feed into central gathering system

We plan to construct permanent storage solution at our facility We have engaged an independent engineering firm

with substantial experience designing and managing the building of oil and gas and rail facilities in the Williston Basin We
along with our marketing and transloading joint ventures have commenced in preliminary discussions to proceed with the

aforementioned engineering firms facility expansion designs We are unable to reasonably estimate the costs associated with

the implementation of the proposed design but expect that it will involve significant capital expenditures by us and our joint

ventures We expect to finance these capital expenditures if and when necessary with cash generated from the operations of

our joint ventures our current cash and cash equivalents or additional financing if available on terms acceptable to us given

market conditions

contractual Obligations

The following table presents our contractual obligations at December 31 2012

Payments Due by Period

IRss Than One One to Three Three to Fie More Than Fhe

Total Year Years Years Years

Total debt 26605.300 26.605300

Interest cNdnsc 8.120761 3.192.636 4.92g125

Total 34726.061 3.192636 31.533.425

As previously noted on November 2012 we issued Notes due October 2015 and Notes due March 2014 and

approximately $11.96 million aggregate principal amount of Notes due October 2015 were issued for all of our promissory

notes issued in satisfaction of the Reduced Payment In addition the holders of approximately $3.9 million of the $9.0

million outstanding aggregate principal amount of our Notes due March 2013 tendered their notes in exchange for Notes due

October 2015 and the holders of an additional approximately $4.6 million aggregate principal amount of our Notes due

March 2013 tendered their notes in exchange for the Notes due March 2014
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note to the consolidated financial statements starting on page
F-I for discussion of recent accounting

pronouncements

Inflation

Management believes inflation has not had material effect on our operations or on our financial condition We cannot

be sure that our business will not be affected by inflation in the future

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Sensitivity Risk

For fixed rate debt interest rate changes affect the fair value of financial instruments but do not impact earnings or cash

flows Conversely for floating rate debt interest rate changes generally do not affect the fair market value but do impact

future earnings and cash flows assuming other factors are held constant The principal objectives of our investment activities

are to preserve principal provide liquidity and maximize income consistent with minimizing risk of material loss The

recorded carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value due to their short maturities and do not have

material market risk exposure All of our outstanding debt as of December 31 2012 had fixed rate We therefore do not

have any material risk to interest rate fluctuations

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are not materially affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates

Seasonality

The industries in which we operate can be highly cyclical The most critical factor in assessing the outlook for the oil

industry is the worldwide supply and demand for crude oil The peaks and valleys of demand are further apart than those of

many other cyclical industries This is primarily result of the industry being driven by commodity demand and

corresponding price increases As demand increases producers raise their prices The price escalation enables producers to

increase their capital expenditures The increased capital expenditures ultimately result in greater revenues and profits for

services and equipment companies The increased capital expenditures also ultimately result in greater production which

historically has resulted in increased supplies and reduced prices

Historically we have experienced our lowest utilization of our facility during the first quarter when weather conditions

are least favorable for efficient operation of our facility As is common in the industry through the transloading joint venture

and to lesser extent the marketing joint venture we typically bear the risk of delays caused by some but not all adverse

weather conditions

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto required pursuant to this Item begin on page F-I of this report

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None
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Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information we are required to disclose

in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

period specified in SEC rules and forms These controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is

accumulated and communicated to our management including our principal executive and principal financial officers as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and

procedures we have recognized that any controls and procedures no matter how well desigiied and operated can provide

only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives Management is required to apply judgment in

evaluating its controls and procedures

We performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our principal

executive and principal financial officers to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls

and procedures under the Exchange Act Based on that evaluation our management including our principal executive and

financial officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 2012

Managements Report on Internal Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Rules l3a-15f and 15d-15f of the Exchange Act Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable

assurance to our management and board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Our internal control

over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and

dispositions of assets

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and that

our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and

directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of Company assels that could have material effect on our financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

We performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our principal

executive and principal financial officers to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls

and procedures under the Exchange Act as of December 31 2012 In making this assessment we used the criteria set forth by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal control Integrated Framework

Based on that criteria our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of

December 31 20l2

March 14 2013

/5/ Craig McKenzie

Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Timothy Brady

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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PART III

Certain information required by Part Ill is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual

Meeting of Shareholders the Proxy Statement which we intend to filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within

120 days after December 31 2012 Except for those portions specifically incorporated in this report by reference to our Proxy

Statement no other portions of the Proxy Statement are deemed to be filed as part of this report

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information appearing under the headings Proposal No Election of

Directors and Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in our Proxy Statement

Our executive officers are as follows

Name Age Position

Craig McKenzie 49 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

Gabriel Claypool 37 President Chief Operating Officer and Director

Timothy Brady 51 Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Nicholas Dillon 29 Vice President of Finance

Craig McKenzie was appointed to serve as Chairman of our board of directors and Chief Executive Officer of our

Company on February 2013 Mr McKenzie is highly accomplished executive with significant experience in the oil and

gas industry Prior to joining our Company Mr McKenzie had been the President and Chief Executive Officer of ZaZa

Energy Corporation an oil and gas company since its combination with another oil and gas company Toreador Resources

Corporation in February 2012 He served in the same positions with Toreador Resources from January 2009 until the

combination From September 2007 to December 2008 Mr McKenzie served as Chief Executive Officer of Canadian

Superior Energy Inc an oil and
gas company He received his B.S degree in petroleum engineering from Louisiana State

University and his M.B.A from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University

Gabriel Claypool was appointed to serve as Chief Operating Officer on February 2013 and was elected director of

our Company and appointed to serve as our President in connection with the Initial Merger effective as of March 22 2012

He also served as Chairman of our board of directors and as Chief Executive Officer and Secretary of our Company from

March 2012 until February 2013 Mr Claypool had previously served as director and Chief Executive Officer President

and Secretary of Dakota Plains since February 2011 On February 10 2011 he was appointed to also serve as Chairman of

the board of directors of Dakota Plains Mr Claypool was previously Regional Manager with Juniper Networks from 2009

to 2011 and prior to that was with ATT from 2004 to 2009 Mr Claypool has been involved in the agriculture industry his

entire life and has substantial experience from one of the largest century farms in northern Iowa Mr Claypool has numerous

years experience with various forms of transportation logistics as well as commodity marketing trading and hedging

through futures and other contracts Mr Claypool also brings strong business development and management experience from

two Fortune 10 companies handling relationships with Fortune 500 firms Mr Claypool holds Bachelor of Business

Administration degree from the University of Iowa

Timothy Brady was appointed to serve as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in connection with the Initial

Merger effective as of March 22 2012 He had previously served as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Dakota Plains

since September 2011 Mr Brady was instrumental in taking our Company public in March 2012 Before joining Dakota

Plains Mr Brady served as one of three founders and Chief Financial Officer of Encore Energy privately held independent

operator of oil and natural gas properties from May 2011 through September 2011 Prior to that position Mr Brady served

as the Chief Financial Officer from April 2010 through May 2011 of Allied Energy publicly traded oil and natural gas

company and served on its board of directors where Mr Brady able to upgrade the firm to the highest grading level on the

OTC Market tier Prior to that position Mr Brady was an independent consultant for eight years Mr Brady has over 28

years of financial experience within the energy financial services and manufacturing industry Mr Brady has extensive

experience with SEC reporting balance sheet management investor relations treasury mergers and acquisitions audit

internal controls implementation and compliance Mr Brady holds Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from Indiana

University and an MBA from Loyola University of Chicago
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Nicholas Dillon was appointed to serve as our Vice President of Finance in connection with the Initial Merger

effective as of March 22 2012 He had previous served as Vice President of Finance of Dakota Plains since September 2011

He previously served as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Dakota Plains from April10 September 2011 Mr Dillon is

responsible for activities including financial reporting forecasting accounting tax and Sarbanes Oxlcy compliance Prior to

joining our Company Mr Dillon held various finance and accounting positions within Honeywell Internationals Aerospace

and Automated Control Solutions businesses from 2007102011 He also spent time with International Business Machines in

2006 afler graduating from the University of Wisconsin Madison with Bachelor of Business Administration degree

focused on finance investments and banking

Executive officers arc elected annually by our board of directors and serve one-year period or until their successors arc

elected

None of the above executive officers is related to each other or to any of our directors

Our board of directors has adopted code of business conduct and ethics relating to the conduct of our business by our

employees officers and directors
copy

of our code of business conduct and ethics is available on our website at

http//www.dakotaplains.com We intend to post on our website any amendments to or waivers from our Code of Ethics and

Conduct pursuant to the rules of the SEC

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information appearing under the heading Compensation of Executive

Officers the information regarding compensation committee interlocks and insider participation under the heading

Corporate Governance and the information regarding compensation of non-employee directors under the heading Proposal

No Election of Directors in our Proxy Statement

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information appearing under the headings Security Ownership of

Principal Shareholders and Management and Equity Compensation Plan Information in our Proxy Statement

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information regarding director independence under the heading Proposal

No Election of Directors and the information regarding related
person

transactions under the heading Corporate

Governance in our Proxy Statement

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated into this item by reference is the information under the heading Proposal No.3 Ratification of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in our Proxy Statement

PARTlY

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Documents Filed as Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and subsidiaries Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended

December3l20l22OIl and2OlO

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended December 31 2012

and 2011

DPTS Marketing LLC Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 and the period from

inception April 29 2011 to December 31 2011

Financial Statement Schedules

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not

required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted
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Exhibits

Unless otherwise indicated all documents incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference to

document filed with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act are located under SEC file number 000-53390

Exhibit No Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated March 22 2012 by and among MCI Holding Corporation

Dakota Plains Inc and DP Acquisition Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to

current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

2.2 Plan of Merger of Dakota Plains Inc with and into MCT Holding Corporation incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 2.2 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

2.3 Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 23 2012 by and among MCI Holding Corporation MCT

Distribution Corporation and Lindsey Hailstone incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to current

report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation effective March 23 2012 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws effective March 23 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2

to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

4.1 Form of Promissory Note dated November 2011 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

4.2 Form of Promissory Note due April 21 2013 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to current

report on Form 8-K filed June 12012

4.3 Form of Senior Unsecured Promissory Note due October 31 2015 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 to current report on Form 8-K filed November 2012

4.4 Form of Senior Unsecured Promissory Note due March 2014 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.3 to current report on Form 8-K filed November 62012

10.1 Dakota Plains Holdings Inc 2011 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.2 Form of Incentive Stock Option under 2011 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

Q3 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option under 2011 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.3 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.4 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.5 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive Plan for grants on or after

February 2013 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to current report on Form 8-K filed

February 12 2013

10.6 Form of Warrant with Executive Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to current

report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.7 Form of Warrant incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to current report on Form 8-K filed

March 23 2012

108 Form of Warrant incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to current report on Form 8-K filed

November 2012

10.9 Employment Agreement with Craig McKenzie dated February 2013 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to current report on Form 8-K filed February 12 2013

10.10 Employment Agreement with Gabriel Claypool dated February 2013 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to current report on Form 8-K filed February 12 2013

10.11 Employment Agreement with Gabriel Claypool dated March 22 2012 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.7 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012
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Exhibit No Description

10.12 Employment Agreement with Timothy Brady dated March 22 2012 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.8 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.13 Employment Agreement with Nicholas Dillon dated March 22 2012 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.9 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.14 Employment Agreement with Robert Henry dated April 2012 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10/Ito current report on Form 8-K filed April 13 2012

10.15 Form of Exchange and Loan Agreement dated November 2011 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.lOto current report on Fonn 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.16 Form of Exchange and Loan Agreement Standby Credit Arrangement dated November 2011

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 II to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.17 Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Amended and Restated Member Control Agreement

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to current report on Form 8-K tiled June 2012

Amendment No dated August 30 2012

10.18 DPTS Marketing LLC Amended and Restated Member Control Agreement incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to current report on Form 8-K filed June 2012 Amendment No dated

August 30 2012

10.19 Supplemental Agreement to Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Member Control

Agreement and Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Lease Agreement dated July 22 2010

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to current report on Form 8-K filed March 23 2012

10.20 Amended and Restated Lease Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to current

report on Form 8-K filed June 12012

10.21 Indemnification Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to current report on Form 8-

filed March 23 2012

10.22 Form of Subscription Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to current report on

Form 8-K filed November 62012

1023 Form of Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to current report on Form 8-K filed November 2012

21 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of BDO USA LLP

24.1 Powers of Attorney incorporated by reference to signature page

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlcy Act

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto arc deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K

and will not be deemed filed for
purposes

of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Such

certifications will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filings tinder the Securities Act of 1933 as

amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended except to the extent that the registrant specifically

incorporates it by reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly

caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on March 14 2013

DAKOTA PLAINS HOLDINGS INC

By Is Craig McKenzie

Craig McKenzie

Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Craig McKenzie and Timothy Brady or

either of them his/her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent acting alone with full power of substitution and

resubstitution for him/her and in his/her name place and stead in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments

including post-effective amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012 and to

file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection wherewith with the Securities and Exchange

Commission granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent each acting alone full power and authority to do and perform

each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all intents and

purposes

as he/she might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all said attorney-in-fact and agent acting alone or

his/her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacity and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/s/ Craig McKenzie

Craig McKenzie Chief Executive Officer Principal Executive Officer and March l4 2013

Chairman of the Board of Directors

/s/ Timothy Brady

Timothy Brady Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer March 14 2013

Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer

/s/ Gabriel Claypool

Gabriel Claypool President Chief Operating Officer and Director March 14 2013

/s/ Gary Alvord

Gary Alvord Director March 14 2013

/s/ Paul Cownie

Paul Cownie Director March 14 2013

Is David Fellon

David Fellon Director March 14 2013

Is Terry Rust

Terry Rust Director March 142013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders

Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Wayzata Minnesota

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated

statements of operations equity and cash tiows for each of the two
years

in the period ended December 31 2012 These financial statements are the responsibility of

the Companys management Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not required to have

nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting Our audits included consideration of internal control over tinancial
reporting

as basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Companys intemal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc at

December31 2012 and 2011 and the results of its
operations

and its cash flows for each of the two years
in the period ended December 31 2012 in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

Is BDO USA LLP

BDO USA LLP

Houston Texas

March 14 2013
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DAKOTA PLAINS HOLDINGS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2012 AND 2011

ASSETS

CURRENT LJABILITIES

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Income Tax Payable

Derivative Liability

Ieferred Rental Income

Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Promissory Notes Net of Debt Discount

Deferred Rental Income

Deferred Tax Liability

Total Long-Term Liabilities

Dceniter 31

2012 2011

1753.665

16756

2307O0

4077.421

819178 317808

21.905797 11996571

5331599 2890280

184225

2441.000

39.664.657 22447.871

239674

232905

1028000

5540000

20679 125164

1521.258 5.778.441

25614683 9.000000

165.434 125163

460000

25.780117 9585163

Total Liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

27301.375 15.363604

41839 37.014

17.432904 10158044

5.111461 3110791

12363.2112 7.084.267

39.664.657 22.447.871

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Prepaid Expenses

Due from Related Party

Deferred Tax Asset

Total Current Assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land

Site Development

Other Property and Equipment

Total Property and Equipment

Less Accumulated Depreciation

Total Property and Equipment Net

PREFERRED DIVIDEND RECEIVABLE

INVESTMENT IN DPTS MARKETING LLC

INVESTMENT IN DAKOTA PETROLEUM TRANSPORT SOLUTIONS LLC

FINANCE COSTS NET

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

2.340083

30632

81.175

14 14.tt0

3865.890

3.166849

2329660

45292

5.541.801

424.833

5116.968

1.053576

2329660

42075

3.425311

259520

3.165791

32616

80.661

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Preferred Stock Par Value 5.001 10000000 Shares Authorized None Issued or Outstanding

Common Stock Par Value $001 100000000 Authorized 41839433 and 37.014.018 issued and outstanding

respectively

Additional PaidIn
Capital

Accumulated Deficit

Total Stockholders Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders Equity
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DAKOTA PLAINS HOLDINGS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012 2011 AND 2010

Yenr Ended Decemter3l

REVENUES

Rental Income Related Party

OPERATING EXPENSES

General and Administrative Expenses

Depreciation and Amortization.

Total Operating Expenses

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

314581

2800737 3741760 37561

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Income from Investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

Income from Investment in DPTS Marketing LLC

Interest Expense Net of Interest Income

Gain Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Other Expense

Total Other Income Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX PROVISION BENEFIT

NET INCOME LOSS

Net Income Loss Per Common Share Basic and Diluted

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding Basic and Diluted

3511999

10410596

29211978

14708909

580474

4236779

2314279

3371812

4552500
2777

1376031

3381211 .. 5117791

1117608

1259

1118867

1081306

1380541 2007000 416000

200067 3110791 665306

0.05 0.09 0.02

39792973 35.214940 30122634

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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2901907 3897066
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110059
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DAKOTA PLAINS HOLDINGS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

FOR TIlE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012 2011 AND 2010

Balance December 31 2009

Sale of Common Shares at $0775 Per Share

Issuance of Common Shares Related to

Consulting Agreements

Payment on Subscription Receivable

Net tncome

Balance December 31 2010

Sale of Common Shares at $2125 Per Share

Sale of Common Shares at $4.00 Per Share

Issuance of Common Shares Related to

Consulting Agreements

Issuance of Common Shares Related to

Administrative Services Agreement

Issuance of Restricted Common Shares

Issuance of Common Shares as Stock

Dividend

Issuance of Common Shares to Board of

Directors

Issuance of Common Shares for Finance Costs

Cash Dividend Paid

Share-Based Compensation

Issuance of Common Shares Pursuant 10

Exercise of Warrants

Warrants Issue Included in Debt Discount

Net Loss

Balance December 31 2011

Acquisition of MCT Holding Corporation

Issuance of Common Shares Pursuant to

Exercise oF Warrants

Share-Based Compensation

Issuance of Restricted Common Shares

Issuance of Common Shares Pursuant to Debt

Restructure

Issuance of Common Shares to Board of

1irectors

Warrants Issued Included in Debt Iiscount

Net Loss

Balance December 31 2012

2387 2387

477604

38

1757075 1757 6130435

3125 24997

644889

Retained

Stack Earnings Total

Subscriptions Accumulated Stockholders

Receivable Deficit Equity

110000 55293 1514834

542500

46728

110010 110.000

665306 665306

610013 2.879368

3187500

2000000

3.110791

3110.791

2.163750

4250

Common Stock

Shares Amount

29766462 29766

700000 700

Additional

Paid-Ia

Capital

1650361

541800

126.282 126 46612

30592

1500

500

2238763

3186000

1999500

30592744

1.500000

500000

2.280.000

2000

600000

1441774

40000

7500

2280 2.161.470

600

1442

4248

600

1442

40 84.960

29992

1331619

425756

500X 50 14200

85000

30.000

610013 1941632

425756

37014

640

1346816

10158.044

640

37014018

640200

2386578

38437

14.250

1346816

3110791

7.084267

477604

6132192

38

41839433 41839 17432904

25000

644889

2.000670 2000.670

5111461 12363282
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DAKOTA PLAINS HOLDINGS INC AND SUBSIDARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012 2011 AND 2010

Year Ended December31

2012 2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIViTIES

Net Income Loss 2000670 3110791 665306

Adjustments to Reconcile Net income Loss to Net Cash Provided by Used in Operating

Activities

Depreciation and Amortization 165313 159275 90929

Amortization of Debt Discount 58272 346816

Amortization of Finance Costs 10837

Gain Loss on Extinguishment of Debt 14708 909 4552 500

Loss on Disposal of Property and Equipment 2776

Loss on Derivative Liability 27311802 1167 500

Deferred Income Taxes 2412000 2010000 196000

Issuance of Common Stock for Consulting Fees 168 000 46728

Increase Decrease in Deferred Rental Income 40271 100546 225709

Income from Investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC 35 11999 236 779 1117 608

Income from Investment in DPTS Marketing LLC 10410596 2314279
Non Cash Rental Income 42 783 80 986 20 246

Share-Based Compensation 502604 510756

Changes in Working Capital
and Other Items

Decrease in Trade Receivables 19161

Increase in Prepaid Expenses 13 876 16 756

Increase in Due from Related Party 81175
Increase Decrease in Accounts Payable

.. 207058 6184 8000.

Increase Decrease in Income Taxes Payable 1028000 220000 220000

Increase Decrease in Accrued Expenses 152244 80661 ... 19147
Increase Decrease in Deferred Rental Income 104485 12310 112854

Net Cash Provided by Used in Operating Activities 3810092 2095727 427686

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of Property and Equipment 2116490 788 126 534 587

Cash Paid for Investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC 50000
Cash Paid for Investment in DPTS Marketing LLC 10000100
Cash Received from Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC 1113463 1952210 659102

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities 003 027 836 016 925 485

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from Issuance of CommonStock
Proceeds from Exercise of Warrants

Repayments of Notes Payable Related Parties

Cash Paid for Finance Costs

Cash Paid for Debt Extinguishment Costs

Cash Dividend Paid

Repayment of Promissory Notes

Proceeds from Promissory Notes

Proceeds from Senior Promissory Notes

Proceeds from Junior Promissory Notes

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

195062
150000j45401

1941632
500000

6140000

NET INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 586418

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BEGINNING OF PERIOD 1753665 575290 660.589

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS END OF PERIOD 2340083 1753665 575290

The accompanying noies are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements

849

5187500 652500

14250

599537

240000

412500

85299

3500000

5500000

12110118

1178375

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Cash Paid During the Period for Interest 1831353 858082

Cash Paid During the Period for Income Taxes 3459 211220

Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Iurchase of Property and Equipment Paid Subsequent to Period End .. 30800

Fair Value of Warrants Issued for Debt Discount 1048889

Payment of Debt Extinguishment Costs through Issuance of Common Stock

Preferred Dividend Receivable 501370

SatisfactiOn of Derivative Liability with Common Stock 6132192

Promissory Notes Issued to Satisfy Derivative Liability 11965300

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt Related to Derivative Liability

30.800

1346816

30000

317808

4372500

73078
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Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2012

Organization and Nature of Business

On March 22 2012 Dakota Plains Holdings Inc formerly known as MCT Holding Corporation DP or the Company Dakota Plains Inc Minnesota

corporation engaged in the crude oil transportation business Dakota Plains and DP Acquisition Corporation Minnesota corporation Merger Subsidiary

entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger the Merger Agreement Under the Merger Agreement the Merger Subsidiary merged with and into Dakota Plains

the Initial Merger the
separate corporate

existence of the Merger Subsidiary ceased and Dakota Plains continued as the surviving corporation
and as wholly

owned subsidiary of our Company See Note II for details of Initial Merger

Dakota Plains Inc formerly Dakota Plains Transport Inc was fi.rmed in November 2008 to participate in the ownership and operation of transloading tiicility

near New Town North Dakota through which producers transporters and marketers may transload crude oil and related products from and onto the Canadian Pacitic

Railway

Dakota IIains Marketing LLC DPM wholly owned subsidiary of the Company was formed in April 2011 primarily to engage in the purchase sale storage

transport
and marketing of hydrocarbons produced within North Iakota to or mm relinenes and other end-users or persons

The Company is governed by board of directors and managed by its officers

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America GAAP

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB that are adopted by the Company as of the

specified effective date If not discussed management believes that the impact of recently issued standards which are not yet effective will not have material

impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements upon adoption

Presentation of Joniprehensive laconic

In June 2011 the FASB issued Comprehensive Income lopic 220 Presentation of Comprehensive Income ASU No 201105 The guidance eliminates the

option of presenting components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of stockholders equity The standard will allow the Company the option to

present the total of comprehensive income the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income in either single
continuous statement

of comprehensive income or in two separate
hut consecutive statements In December 2011 the FASB issued Comprehensive laconic Topic 220 Deferral of the

Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassi fications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update

No 2011-05 AStJ No 2011-12 The FASB indelinitely deferred the eftCctive date for the guidance related to the
presentation

ofreclassifications of items out of

accumulated other comprehensive income by component in both the statement in which net income is presented and the statement in which other comprehensive

income is presented liie standard except for the portion that was indefinitely deferred became effective for the Company on January 2012 and must be applied

retrospectively On January 2012 the Company adopted this standard on disclosure and it did not impact the Companys results oloperations financial position or

cash flows
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Icontinuedl

Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS

In May 2011 the FASB issued Fair Value Measurement Topic 820 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in

U.S GAAP and IFRS ASU No 2011-04 The standard generally
clarifies the application

of
existing requirements on topics including

the concepts of
highest

and

best use and valuation premise and disclosing quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used in the measurement of instruments categorized within

Level of the fair value hierarchy Additionally the standard includes changes on topics
such as measuring fair value of financial instruments that are managed

within
portfolio

and additional disclosure for fair value measurements categorized within Level of the fair value hierarchy This standard became effective for the

Company on January 2012 The standard requires
additional disclosures but it will not impact the Companys results of operations financial

position or cash

flows On January 2012 the Company adopted this standard on disclosure and it did not impact the Companys results of operations financial
position or cash

Ilows

Joint Venture Equity Investment

The
equity

method is used to account for investments in joint ventures where the Company has significant influence representing equity ownership of not more than

50% As further described in Note the Companys equity investments consist of 50% owned Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC DPTS joint venture

50% owned DPTS Marketing LLC DPTSM joint venture and 50% owned Dakota Plains Services LLC DPS joint
venture DPTS DPTSM and DPS have

December31 fiscal year ends and the Company records its 50% share of the joint ventures net income or loss based on their most recent annual audited financial

statements The Companys share of the joint ventures operating results for each fiscal year is adjusted for its share of intercompany transactions which primarily

relate to rental agreements Any significant
unrealized intercompany profits or losses are eliminated in applying the equity method of accounting

The Company follows applicable authoritative guidance whereby declines in estimated investment fair value below carrying value assessed as other than temporary

are recognized as charge to earnings to reduce
carrying

value to estimated fair value The Company periodically
evaluates its equity investments for possible

declines in value and determines if declines are other than temporary based on among other factors the
sufficiency

and outcome of equity investee performed

impairment assessments which includes third party appraisals and other analyses the amount and length of time that fair value may have been below
carrying value

near-term and longer-term operating and financial prospects of equity investees and the Companys intent and ability to hold the equity
investments for

period
of

time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investments with insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities to the Company of three months or less to be cash

equivalents Cash
equivalents

consist
primarily

of interest-bearing bank accounts and money market funds The Companys cash positions represent assets held in

checking and money market accounts These assets are generally
available to the Company on daily or weekly basis and are highly liquid in nature Due to the

balances being greater
than $250000 the Company does not have FDIC coverage on the entire amount of bank deposits The Company believes this risk of loss is

minimal

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives

Estimated useful lives are as follows

Site development 15
years

Other Property and Equipment years

Land
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Icontiuedl

Expenditures for replacements renewals and betterments are capitalized Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred Depreciation expense was

$165313 $159275 and $90929 for the
years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Impairment

FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 360-10-35-21
requires

that
long-lived assets to be held and used be reviewed lhr impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not he recoverable There was no impairment identi lied at December 31 2012 and 2011

Environmental Accrual

Accruals for estimated costs for environmental obligations generally are recognized no later than the date wheti the Company identities what cleanup measures it

any are likely to be
required to address the environmental conditions Included in such obligations are the estimated direct costs to investigate and address the

conditions and the associated engineering legal and
consulting costs In making these estimates the Company considers information that is

currently available

existing technology enacted laws and regulations and its estimates of the timing of the required remedial actions Such accruals are initially measured on

discounted basis and are adjusted as further information becomes available or circumstances change and are accreted up over time The Company has recorded

no liability for environmental obligations as of December 31 2012 and 2011 Any required environmental accruals would be accounted for by DPTS and lPTSM

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under FASB ASC 740-10-30 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between the

financial reporting and tax bases of as sets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the dit1rences are expected
to reverse Accounting standards require the consideration of valuation allowance tbr deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some component or all of

the benefits of deferred tax assets will not be realized

The tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in the consolidated titiancial statements only if the position is more likely than not of being sustained

if the position were to he challenged by taxing authority The Company has examined the tax positions taken in its tax returns and determined that there are no

uncertain tax
positions

As result the Company has recorded no uncertain tax liabilities in its consolidated balance sheet

Stock-Based compensation

The Company records expenses associated with the fair value of stock-based compensation For restricted stock grants the Company calculates the stock based

compensation expense based upon estimated fair value on the date of grant For stock warrants and options the Company uses the l3lack-Scholes
option

valuation

model to calculate stock based compensation at the date of grant Option pricing models require the input of
highly subjective assumptions including the expected

price volatility Changes in these assumptions can niaterially allŁct the fair value estimate

Stock Issuance

The Company records the stock-based compensation awards issued to non-employees and other external entities tr goods and services at either the thir market value

of the goods received or services rendered or the instruments ms.sued in exchange for such services whichever is more readily determinable using the measurement

date guidelines enumerated in FASE3 ASC 505-50-30
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income loss attributable to Company stockholders by the weighted average

number of common shares outstanding during the period Diluted earnings per common share reflect the potential
dilution that could occur if common stock

equivalents were exercised or converted to common stock The dilutive effect of common stock equivalents is calculated using the treasury
stock method When

loss from continuing operations exists all potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share

As the Company had loss for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the potentially dilutive shares are anti-dilutive and thus not added into the earnings per

share calculation There were no potentially
dilutive shares at December 31 2010

As of December 31 2012 there were 568437 shares of restricted stock that were issued and vest in 2013 that represent potentially dilutive shares ii 1000000

stock warrants that were issued and presently exercisable that
represent potentially dilutive shares which have an exercise price

of $0285 iii 700000 stock

warrants that were granted but are not presently exercisable and
represent potentially dilutive shares which have an exercise price of $2.50 and vest in 2013 iv

200000 stock options that were issued and presently exercisable and represent potentially dilutive shares which have an exercise price of $2.50 5625 stock

options
that were issued and presently exercisable that

represent potentially dilutive shares which have an exercise price
of $8.00 vi 921000 stock warrants that

were issued and
presently

exercisable that represent potentially
dilutive shares which have an exercise price

of $4.00

Fair Value Measures

The Company measures fair value using fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value Fair value is the price that

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability
in an orderly transaction between market

participants
at the measurement date essentially an exit price

based on the highest
and best use of the asset or liability The levels of the fair value hierarchy are

Level Quoted market prices in active markets that are accessible at measurement date for identical assets or liabilities

Level
Inputs

other than Level that are observable either directly or indirectly
such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities quoted prices in

markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets

or liabilities

Level tJnobservable inputs
that are supported by little or no market activity

and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities and less

observable from objective sources

Use of Estimates

The preparation
of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Such significant
estimates include recoverability of property

and equipment and equity investments depreciable

lives for property and equipment inputs
in the valuation of certain equity transactions and accounting for income taxes Actual results may differ from those

estimates

Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries All significant

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated
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Joint Ventures

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

On November 2009 the Company entered into joint venture with Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC PTS The Company and PTS each own 50% of the

outstanding member units of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LI.C The joint venture was lonned to engage in the
acquisition

construction and operation ola

petroleum transloading facility
in New Town North Dakota Transloading Facility

Each of the members of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC was required to make an initial
capital

contribution of $50000 Each member received 00
member units for their initial capital contribution fir total of 2000 member units issued and outstanding as of December 31 2012

As part of the joint venture agreement the Company will own the Transloading Facility and certain equipment acquired and leases the property to Dakota Petroleum

Transport Solutions LLC

ilie operations of the Transloading Facility commenced in November 2009 l.Jnder provisions
of the member control agreement the profits and kn.ses of Dakota

Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC are split 50/50 pro rata based on the number of member units outstanding The cash payments from the joint venture will also be

paid pro rata based on the number of member units outstanding

hi December 2011 Dakota Plains transferred all of its assets and liabilities excluding its equity interest in its wholly owned subsidiaries and its real property to

lakota Plains Transloading LLC DPI DPI is wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company that was formed in August 2011 The purpose oF 111 is to participate

in the ownership and operation of the transloading facility near New Town North Dakota through which producers transporters
and marketers may transload crude

oil and related products from and onto the Canadian Pacific Railway

On June 2012 DPT entered into an amended and restated member control agreement with PTS and lakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC The amended and

restated member control agreement among other things incorporates all previous amendments and supplements extends the initial term until December 31 2021

and the term will automatically extend in two-year renewal periods unless and until terminated

The Company is accounting for this joint venture using the
equity

method of accounting The income or loss from the joint venture is included in other income on the

consolidated statements of operations and the Company has recorded an investment in Dakota letroleuni Transport Solutions LLC on its consolidated balance sheet

Suppleineittal Agreen clii

In September 2010 the Company entered into Supplemental Agreement to the Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutiom LLC member control agreement

Supplemental Agreement The purpose of the Supplemental Agreement was to obtain access to site improvements and certain additional
transloading equipment

necessary to fulfill certain
transloading

contracts Under this Supplemental Agreement the Company agreed to provide funds for the site improvements he total

costs incurred fir these site improvements were $1320747 These costs have been capitalized as property and equipment on the Companys consolidated balance

sheet

As
part

of the Supplemental Agreement PTS was required to pay all costs lbr the acquisition
of four new transloader The total cost of these transloaders was

$658012 with an estimated residual value ofSl3l.602 at the end of the initial Agreement term bra net cost incurred of $526410

To reflect the economics of the $526410 of costs incurred the Company recognized rental income of $6749 per
month through June 2012 In June 2012 the term of

the joint venture agreement was extended and the monthly rental income recognized by the Company was decreased to $1291 per
month through December 31

2021 Rental income related to these costs incurred was $42783 $80986 and $20246 for the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively No cash

will he received related to this rental income the rental income recorded is being treated as an increase in the Companys investment in the
joint

venture

F-il



Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2012

Joint Ventures Iconhinuedl

In order to render fair and equitable the leases for the additional expenditures by the members relating to the site improvements and new equipment the Supplemental

Agreement included provision that the Company would receive 75% of the cash distributions from Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC until the Company

had been reimbursed The additional expenditures would also incur interest at an interest rate of 7%
per

annum until paid in full After the Company was reimbursed

and received the required interest the cash distributions reverted back to the 50/50 split as per the original agreement Only the cash distributions were changed under

the Supplemental Agreement the profit and loss allocations remained the same as the original member control agreement As of December 31 2012 the Company
has been reimbursed the full $794337 of additional expenditures related to the Supplemental Agreement

The Company will
report

the $397169 50% of the costs incurred in excess of amounts incurred by PTS as rental income over the life of the joint venture and

$397168 will be included as income from investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC as the related expense is recorded by DPTS Rental income

related to the Supplemental Agreement was $64214 $118627 and $28214 for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively As of December

31 2012 and 2011 the Company has received $186113 and $250327 respectively in lease payments in excess of the amount reported as revenue This amount is

included as deferred rental income on the consolidated balance sheet with the amount to be eamed in the next twelve months recorded as current liability There are

no future lease payments receivable related to this agreement as of December 31 2012 and 201

Summarized financial information of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC is as follows

Year Ended

Deceniber 31

2012 2011 2010

Sales 15884822 11799.406 3531796

Net Earnings 6491033 7844398 1908361

Companys Share of Equity in Net Earnings 3245516 3922199 954181

Total Assets 13652679 6820137 2820556

Total Liabilities 2617257 19.761 1093978

Share of Equity in Net Assets 5.517711 3150.188 863289

The differences between the Companys share of
equity

in the net assets of DPTS and the investment in DPTS as shown on the consolidated balance sheet is due to

50% of the deferred rental income entered into with DPTS being eliminated through the investment in DPTS Since 50% of the rental income received from DPTS is

eliminated and reported through income from DPTS on the Companys consolidated statements of operations 50% of the deferred rental income received under the

terms of the lease agreements is eliminated against the investment in DPTS

OPTS Marketing LLC

The Company through its wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Marketing LLC entered into joint venture with PTS The Company and PTS each own 50% of

the outstanding member units of DPTS Marketing LLC The joint venture was formed to engage in the purchase sale storage transport and marketing of

hydrocarbons produced within North Dakota to or from refineries and other end-users or persons and to conduct
trading

activities

Each of the members of DPTS Marketing LLC was required to make an initial capital contribution of $100 Each member received 1000 member units for their

initial capital contribution for total of 2000 member units issued and outstanding as of December 31 2012

Each of the members of DPTS Marketing LLC was also required to make an initial Member Preferred Contribution of$10000000 to support the trading activities of

the
joint venture The Company made its Member Preferred Contribution on May 11 2011 Upon written agreement of all the members the members will make such

additional Member Prekrred Contributions as are agreed upon All Member Preferred Contributions made shall entitle the member to receive cumulative preferred

return of 5% per annum which preferred return will be paid in cash on quarterly basis subject to there being cash available At December 31 2012 and 2011 the

Company reported preferred dividend receivable of $819178 and $317808 respectively on its consolidated balance sheet The Company has received no

payments from DPTS Marketing LLC as of December 31 2012
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Joint Ventures Icontinuedl

ihe operations of DPTS Markcting LLC commenced in May 2011 Under provisions of the member control agreement the profits and losses of DPiS Marketing

LLC are split 50/50 pro rata based on number of member units outstanding The cash payments from the joint venture will also he paid pro rata based on the number

ot member units outstanding

On June 2012 our wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Marketing entered into an amended and restated member control agreement with PTS and DPIS

Marketing EEC The amended and restated member control agreement among other things incorporates
all previous amendments extends the initial term until

December 31 2021 and the term will automatically extend in two-year renewal periods
unless and until terminated

The Company is accounting for this joint venture using the equity method of accounting The income or toss troni the joint venture wit be included in other income

on the consolidated statements of
operations

and the Company has recorded an investmetit in DPTS Marketing EEC on its consolidated balance sheet

Summarized tinancial statements of DPTS Marketing EEC are summarized as thllows

Year Ended

December 31

2012 2011 2010

Sales 79.008731 9117898

Net Earnings 20821192 4628.558

Companys Share of Equity in Net Earnings 10.410596 2114279

Total Assets 49399 386 26.811607

Total Liabilities 5587792 2.820465

Share of Equity in Net Assets 21905797 11996571

Dakota Plains Services LLC

The Company through its wholly owned subsidiary Dakota Plains Trucking EEC entered into joint venture with JPNI II I.l.C JPND The Company and

JPND each own 50% of the outstanding member units of Dakota Plains Services EEC The joint venture was formed to engage in the transportation by road of

hydrocarbons and materials used or produced in the extraction of hydrocarbons to or from refineries and other end-users or persom wherever located and any other

lawful activities as the hoard of governors may determine from time to time

.IPND made an initial capital contrihittion of $650000 to Dakota Plains Services EEC The Company was not required to make capital contribtition Each member

received 1000 member units for total of 2000 member units issued and outstanding as of December 31 2012

The member control agreement of Dakota Plains Services EEC includes provision that JPND will receive all distributions from the joint venture until the aggregate

amount of distributions received is equal to their initial
capital

contribution The cash distributions wilt be split 50/50 atler JPND has received distributions equal to

its capital contribution

The operations of Iakota Plains Services EEC commenced itt September 20 Under
provisions

of the member control agreement the
profits

and losses of Dakota

Plains Services ELC are split 50/50 pro rata based on number of member units outstanding
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The initial term of the
joint venture is until December 31 2022 and the term will automatically extend in two-year renewal periods

unless and until terminated

The Company is accounting for this joint venture using the equity method of accounting The income or loss from the joint venture will be included in other income

on the consolidated statements of operations and the Company will record an investment in Dakota Plains Services LLC on its consolidated balance sheet The

Company did not recognize the loss from Dakota Plains Services LLC for the year ended December 31 2012 or decrease its investment in Dakota Plains Services

LLC below zero as of December 31 2012 GAAP prohibits the Company from reducing the investment below zero unless the Company is obligated to provide

financial support to Dakota Plains Services LLC

Lease Agreement

In November 2009 our predecessor entered into an operating lease agreement with Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC See Note Under the lease

agreement the Company received monthly lease payments of $19161 through May 2012 Effective June 2012 the
operating

lease agreement was amended to

increase the monthly lease payment to $31881 for the duration of the Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC amended and restated member control agreement

The lease agreement includes provisions which allow the Company to collect additional rents if the Company incurs certain additional costs related to the equipment

and the Transloading Facility Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC is
responsible

for all
personal property and real property taxes upon the alterations and

trade fixtures on the premises and the property during the term of the lease The lessee is responsible for all costs and expenses to perform all maintenance and repair

of the premises and to acquire expansion improvements or additions to the premises The lessee is also
responsible

for payment of all utilities and other

miscellaneous expenses during the term of the lease agreement

In accordance with equity method requirements described in Note 50% is recognized as rental income and 50% is included in income from investmenl in Dakota

Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Accordingly for the year ended December 31 2012 $159486 of the $318972 was recognized as rental income and $159486

was included in income from investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC For the
years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 $114967 of the

$229934 in rent payments was recognized as rental income and $114967 was included in income from investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC
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Minimum future rent payments on the non-cancelable
operating lease receivable in the years following December 31 2012 are as fillows

For Ilir Irars Fndin flrrrnhrr ti Amoipili

2013 382572
2014 382.572

2015
382572

2016
382572

2017 382572
20182021 1530.288

Iota 441l48

Preferred Stock and Common Stock

The Company has authorized 10.000000 shares of preferred stock with par value of $0001 per share Shares of preferred stock may be issued in one or more series

with rights and restrictions as may be determined by the Company No shares of preferred stock have been issued as of December 31 2012 and 2011

On January 14 2011 the Company declared dividend to the owners of the Companys common stock The owners of the Companys common stock made an

election to receive either cash dividend of $0.10
per share of common stock owned or stock dividend of 0.0645 shares of the Companys common stock thr each

share of common stock owned Based on the shareholders elections the Company paid 1941632 in cash and issued an additional .441774 shares of common

stock

In February 2011 the Company issued 2000001 shares of common stock to two former executives of the Company as compensation for their services The

executives were fully vested in the shares on the date 01 the grant The fair value of the stock issued was $1550000 or $0775
per share the liuir market value of

share of common stock on the date the stock was issued and expensed as general and administrative expenses

In March 2011 warrant holder exercised 50000 warrants resulting in cash proceeds to the Company of$14250

In March 2011 the Company completed private placement offering of 1500000 shares of common stock to accredited investors at subscription price of $2125

per
share for total

gross proceeds of $3187500 Fhe oliering was private placement made under Rule 506 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 the

Act as amended

In April 2011 the Company issued 2000 shares of common stock to an individual pursuant to au administrative services agreement lhese shares were valued at

$4250 or $2.1 25 per share the market value of the shares of common stock on the date of issuance and expensed as general
and administrative expenses

in
April 2011 the Company issued 20000 shares of common stock to consultant pursuant to

consulting agreement These shares were valued at $42500 or

$2125 per share the market value of the shares of common stock on the date of issuance and expensed as general and administrative expenses

In
April 2011 the Company issued 250000 shares of common stock to consultant pursuant to consulting agreement These shares were valued at $531250 or

$2125
per share the market value of the shares of common stock on the date of issuance and expensed as general and administrative expenses

In September 2011 the Company issued 40000 shares of common stock to its hoard of directors These shares were valued at $85000 or $2125
per share the

market value of the shares of common stock on the date of issuance and expensed as general and administrative expenses

On November 2011 the Company exchanged their senior and junior promissory notes for new promissory notes As part of the exchange the holders of the senior

and junior promissory notes made an election to receive either cash
paynleist equal to two

perceult 2% of the aggregate principal of the senior and junior

promissory notes exchanged or the number shares of the Companys common stock
equal to the cash exchange fee divided by $4.00 Based on the holders elections

the Company issued 7500 shares of common stock The fair value of the Companys common stock issued $30000 is included in loss on extinguishment of debt on

the consolidated statement of operations for the
year

ended December 31 2011

F-i



Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2012

Preferred Stock and Common Stock Icontinuedl

In December 2011 the Company completed private placement offering
of 500000 shares of common stock to accredited investors at subscription price

of $4.00

per share for total
gross proceeds of $2000000 The offering was private placement made under Rule 506 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 the

Act as amended

In December 2011 the Company issued 10000 shares of common stock to consultant These shares were valued at $40000 or $4.00 per share the market value ol

the shares of common stock on the date of issuance and expensed as general
and administrative expenses

In August 2012 the Company issued 3125 shares of common stock to member of its board of directors These shares were valued at $25000 or $8.00
per share

the market value of the shares of common stock on the date of issuance and expensed as general and administrative expenses

Stock Split

On October 31 2011 the Companys board of directors and majority of its stockholders approved 2-for-I stock split pursuant to which all stockholders of record

received two shares of common stock for each single share of common stock owned as of the record date This stock split
increased the issued and outstanding shares

by approximately 18200000 the outstanding warrants by approximately 2100000 and the outstanding stock options by approximately 125000 Generally accepted

accounting principles require that the stock split
be applied retrospectively to all periods presented As result all stock warrant and option

transactions have been

adjusted to account for the 2-for-I stock split

Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants

The Company accounts for stock-based conWensation under the provisions of FASB ASC 718-10-55 This standard requires the Company to record an expense

associated with the fair value of the stock-based compensation The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to calculate stock-based compensation

at the date of grant Option pricing
models require the input

of highly subjective assumptions including the expected volatility For warrants and options granted to

employees and directors the Company uses the simplified method to determine the expected term of the warrants and options due to the lack of sufficient historical

data Changes in these assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate The fair value of the warrants and options are recognized as compensation or interest

expense over the vesting term

Warrants

Warrants Granted February 201

On February 2011 in conjunction with the closing
of the 12% Senior Promissory Notes see Note the Company issued warrants to purchase total of 3500000

shares of common stock exercisable at $0285 per share The relative fair value of the warrants was initially reported as debt discount and netted
against

the amount

due on the promissory notes on the consolidated balance sheet The warrants can he exercised at any time until the warrants expire in January 2021

Using the Black-Scholes model the Company determined the fair value of the warrants to be $2189248 and allocated the debt proceeds in accordance with the

relative fair value method The Company recorded $1346816 discount on the Senior Notes representing the allocation of the relative fair value to the warrants On

November 2011 the Senior Notes were exchanged for new promissory notes The exchange of the notes was accounted for as an extinguishment of debt

therefore the entire discount has been amortized to interest expense for the year ended December 31 2011
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On March 26 2012 2450000 of these warrants were exercised The warrant holders elected to complete cashless exercise of these warrants and to complete the

cashless exercise the warrant holders surrendered 63420 of the Companys common stock

Warrants Granted February 22 2011

On February 22 2011 the Company issued an executive 01 the Company warrants to purchase total of 600000 shares of common stock exercisable at $2.50 per

share The total fair value of the warrants was calculated
using

the Black-Scholes valuation model based on factors present at the time the warrants were issued

These warrants vest on February 2013 As of December 31 2012 there was approximately $5000 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to these

unvested warrants This compensation expense will be recognized over the remaining vesting period of the grants The Company recognized $28275 and $23563 of

expense related to these warrants for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Warrants Granted April 2011

On April 2011 the Company issued warrants to purchase total of 100000 shares of common stock exercisable at $2.50 per share to an employee as part
of an

employment agreement The total fair value of the warrants was calculated using the l3lack-Scholes valuation model based on factors present at the time the warrants

were issued These warrants vest on April
2013 As of December 31 2012 there was approximately $10000 of total unrecognized compensation expense related

to these unvested warrants This compensation expense will be recognized over the remaining vesting period of the grants The Company recognized $38900 and

$29175 of expense related to these warrants for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Warrants Granted November 2012

On November 2012 in coiunction with the private placement of promissory notes see Note the Company issued warrants to purchase total of 921000
shares of common stock exercisable at $4.00 per share The fair value of the warrants was reported as debt discount and netted against the amount due on the

promissory notes on the consolidated balance sheet The warrants can be exercised at any time until the warrants expire in October 312017

Using the l3lack-Scholes model the Company determined the fair value of the warrants to be $1264985 and allocated the debt proceeds in accordance with the

relative fair value method The Company recorded $1048889 discount on the promissory notes representing the allocation of the relative fair value to the warrants

The debt issuance costs wilt be amortized over the temi of the promissory notes For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company recognized interest expense of

$58272 related to the amortization of this debt discount

As of December 312012 all of the aforementioned warrants are outstanding and exercisable

The following table
presents

the impact on the Companys consolidated statements of
operations

for stock-based compensation expense related to warrants granted

for the
years

ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010

Year Ended

December 31

2012 2011 2010

General and Administrative Expenses 67174 52738

Interest Expense 58272 1346816
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Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants Iconhinuedl

summary of warrants granted for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 is as follows

VeighIed Remaining

Number Average Contractual

of Enercise Term intrinsic

Warrants Price in Years alue

Outstanding at January 12010

Granted

Exercised

Outstanding at December 31 2010

Granted 4200000 0.65

Lxercised 50000 0.285

Outstanding at December 31 2011 150000 0.66 8.3 13866750

Granted 921000 4.00

Exercised 2450000 0.285

Outstanding at December 31 2012 2621000 2.18 5.64 3490.000

For the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 other information
pertaining

to warrants was as follows

2012 2011 2010

Weighted-a%erage grant-date
fair value of warrants granted 1.37 0.55

Total intrinsic value of warrants exercised 26276250 92000

Total grant-date fair value of warrants vested during the year 1264985 2189248

he following assumptions were used for the lilack-Scholes model to value the warrants granted during the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010

Risk free rates
0.73% 1.33- 3.48%

Dividend yield
0.00% 0.00%

Lxpected Volatility
49.8% 4827 56.17%

Weighted average expected lilt yrs 3.5- 10 yrs

The table below reflects the status of warrants outstanding at December 31 2012

%arranls Exercise Price Fxyiratioit Date

February 2011 1000000 0.285 January 31 2021

February 22 2011 600000 2.50 February 22 2016

April 52011 100.000 250 April 52016

November 2012 921000 4.00 October31 2017

Total
2621000
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Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants Iconhinuedl

Stock Options

In September 2011 the Company granted 200000 options
in aggregate to members of the board and 50000 options to it Chief Financial Officer pursuant to an

employment agreement The options were granted at price
of $2.50 and the optionees were fully

vested on the
grant

date The total fair value of the options was

calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model based on factors present at the time the options were granted The Company recognized $82704 of expense

related to these options in the year ended December 31 2011 50000 of these options expired in December 2012 and are no longer outstanding

On August 14 2012 the Company granted 15625 options to member of its board The options were granted at price
of $8.00 and the optionee was fully vested on

the grant date The total fair value of the options was calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model based on factors present at the time the options were

granted The Company recognized $24047 of expense related to these options in the year ended December31 2012

The following table
presents

the impact on the Companys consolidated statements of operations for stock-based compensation expense related to options granted for

the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Year Ended

December 31

2012 2011 2010

General and Administrative Expenses 24047 82704

summary of options for the
years

ended December31 2012 and 2011 is as follows

Weighted Remaining

Average Contractnal

Number Exercise Term Intrinsic

of Options Price tin Years Value

Outstanding at January 1.2011

Granted 250000 2.50

Exercised

Forfeited or Expired

Outstanding at December31 2011 250000 2.50 4.8 1375000

Granted 15625 8.00

Exercised

Forfeited or Expired 50.000 2.50

Outstanding at December 31 2012 215625 2.90 3.9 150000

Stock Options Exercisable at December 31 2011 250000 2.50 4.8 1.375.000

Stock Options Exercisable at December 31 2012 215.625 2.90 3.9 150000
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Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants Icoiitiniiedl

For the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 other information pertaining to stock options was as follows

2012 2011 2010

Weighted average per share gront date fair value of stock options granted 54 066

Total
grant-date

fair value of stock options vested during the year 24047 82704

The following assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes model to value the options granted during the years ended December 31 20122011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010

Risk free rates 0.27% 0.39%

Dividend
yield

0.00% 0.00%

xpected volatility
30.35% 31.98%

Weighted average expected life 2.5 yrs 2.5 yrs

At December 31 2012 there is no further compensation expense that will be recognized in future periods relative to any options
that had been granted as of

December 31 2012 because the Company recognized the entire thir value of such compensation upon vesting
of the options

Restricted Stock Awards

During the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company issued 38437 and 600000 respectively restricted shares of common stock as compensation to

ot1cers and employees of the Company The restricted shares vest over various terms with all restricted shares vesting no later than December 31 2013 As ot

December 31 2012 there was $178304 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock This compensation expense will be

recognized over the remaining vesting period
of the grants The Company has assumed zero percent

forfeiture rate for restricted stock

The following table reflects the outstanding restricted stock awards and activity related thereto fbr the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

For ibc Year Ended

December3i20I2 December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Number Weighied Number Weighied Number Weighied

of Ascrage ot Average
of Average

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Restricted Shares Outstanding

l3eginning of Year 550000 1.02

Shares Granted 38437 6.63 600000 1.00

Lapse of R.estrictions 20000 2.13 50000 0.78

Restricted Shares Outstanding

End of Year 568437 1.36 550.000 1.02

Promissory Notes

On November 2011 the Company entered into an Exchange and Loan Agreement with the holders of certain senior and junior promissory notes Old Notes As

part
of the Exchange and Loan Agreement the holders of the Old Notes agreed to exchange their notes for new promissory notes and extend the term of the

promissory notes The total value of these new notes was $9 million and all unpaid accrued interest and principal were payable on March 2013 The new

promissory notes bore interest at the rate of 12%
per annum with interest payable in arrears on the last day of each fiscal quarter
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Promissory Notes Icontiiuedl

The new promissory notes included an additional payment provision similar to the additional payment provision included in the promissory notes issued by Dakota

Plains Inc in April 2011 which were exchanged for the new promissory notes The additional payment provision provided that upon public listing of the Company

if the initial
trading price as defined in the Exchange and Loan Agreement exceeded $2.50 then the holder would be entitled to receive an additional payment equal

to the remainder to the extent positive of the unpaid principal amount of the promissory note multiplied by the initial trading price and divided by $2.50 minus

the unpaid principal amount of the promissory note The holders of the promissory notes could elect to receive the additional payment either number of

shares of the Companys common stock equal to the additional payment divided by $4.00 or ii subordinated promissory note having principal amount equal to

the additional payment bearing no interest for three calendar months after issuance and 12% simple annual interest thereafter due and payable on the one-year

anniversary of the issue date of such promissory note With the
public listing

of the Company in March 2012 the additional payment due to the holders of the notes

under this provision was $32851800

In connection with the issuance of the new promissory notes the holders also received from the Company at the holders election either cash payment equal to

2% of the aggregate principal amount of the Old Notes exchanged Cash Extension Fee or ii number of shares of the Companys common stock equal to the

Cash Extension Fee divided by $4.00 Based on the election of the Old Note holders the Company paid $150000 in cash for the Cash Extension Fee and issued 7500

shares of the Companys common stock The fair value of the Cash Extension Fee and the shares of the Companys common stock issued $180000 has been

reported on the Companys consolidated statement of
operations as loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31 2011 In connection with the

exchange the Company wrote-off debt issuance costs of $336704 in 2011 which were recorded as interest expense in the Companys consolidated statement of

operations

On November 2012 pursuant to the Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreements see further disclosure below the Company repaid the outstanding

principal to holder of the new promissory notes in the amount of $500000 The term of the remaining $8.5 million was extended using two different maturity dates

$4605300 of the new promissory notes was extended to March 2014 and $3894700 was extended to October31 2015

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt Year Ended December 31 2011

The Company assessed the impact of the exchange of the senior and
junior notes for new promissory notes and whether it should be accounted for as an

extinguishment of debt and the issuance of new debt or modification of the
existing

debt The
present

value of the remaining payments on the new promissory notes

was substantially different than the present value of the senior and junior notes therefore the Company reported the transaction as an extinguishment of debt Since

the exchange was accounted for as an extinguishment of debt all cost incurred and the increase in fair value of the Companys liabilities was reported as loss on

extinguishment of debt on the consolidated statement of operations

Derivative Liability

The additional payment provision in the new promissory notes was considered an embedded derivative and was recorded as derivative liability with re

measurement as of each reporting date This embedded derivative was reported as current liability on the Companys consolidated balance sheet at fair value at

December 31 2011 The fair value of the embedded derivative at December 31 2011 was calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation valuation model based on

factors
present

at the initial valuation date and subsequent reporting date valuations

On April 21 2012 the embedded derivative was satisfied with the issuance of promissory notes in the aggregate amount of $27663950 and 1296963 shares of the

Companys common stock The fair value of the embedded derivative was $32851800 at April 21 2012 The increase in the fair value of the embedded derivative

during the year ended December 31 2012 $27311800 was recorded as interest expense on the consolidated statement of operations

F-21



Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 312012

Promissory Notes Icoislinuedl

Private llacement of Debt

On November 2012 the Company issued promissory notes in the amount of $6140000 The issuance of these promissory notes resulted in proceeds to the

Company of approximately $5945000 net of commissions and finance costs paid The promissory notes bear interest at the rate of 12%
per annum with interest

paid in arrears on the last day of each fiscal quarter All principal
and accrued interest are due and payable on October 312015

In conjunction with the issuance of the promissory notes the Company issued warrants to purchase 921000 shares of its common stock exercisable at $4.00 per

share The warrants expire on October31 2017

The Company recorded $1048889 of debt discount against these promissory notes representing the allocation of the relative fair value to the warrants issued see

Note The debt discount will be amortized over the term of the promissory notes using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company recognized Interest expense of $58272 related to the amortization of this debt discount

The Company incurred finance costs of $195062 related to these notes which will be amortized over the term of the notes and included in interest expense on the

consolidated statement of operations The interest expense recorded for the year ended December 31 2012 was $10839

Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreements

On November 2012 pursuant to the Amended Election Exchange and Loan Agreements all of the holders of the new promissory notes agreed to surrender and

void the $27663950 of promissory notes and 1296963 shares of the Companys common stock received April 21 2012 related to the additional payment provision

in the new promissory notes

As result of the revaluation of the additional payment lrovision and revised elections of the holders the Company issued promissory notes in the aggregate of

$11965300 and 1757075 shares of its common stock The promissory notes bear interest at the rate of 12%
per annum with interest paid in arrears on the last day

of each fiscal quarter All principal and accrued interest are due and payable on October 31 2015

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt Year Ended December 31 2012

The Company assessed the impact of the Aniended Election Exchange and Loan agreements and whether it should be accounted for as an extinguishment of debt

and the issuance of new debt or modification of the existing
debt The

present
value of the remaining payments was substantially different than the present

value of

the original agreements iherefore the Company reported the transaction as an extinguishment of debt Since the exchange was accounted tbr as an extinguishment

of debt the decrease in fair value of the Companys liabilities net of cost incurred and the increased fair value of the common stock issued was reported as gain on

extinguishment of debt on the consolidated statement of operations

Outstanding Promissory Notes at December31 2012

As of December 31 2012 the Company has the following outstanding promissory notes

Maturity Date Principat Amount

March 12014 4605300

October31 2015 22000000

Total outstanding principal
26605300

Unamortized debt discount at December 31 2012 990617

Promissory notes net of debt discount 25614683

All promissory notes bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum with interest paid in arrears on the last day of each fiscal quarter
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Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability approach to measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary differences
existing at each balance sheet

date using currently enacted tax rates in accordance with FASB ASC 740-10-30 Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation allowance when in the opinion of

management it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the

effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment

The income tax expense benefit for the
years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 consists of the following

2012 2011 2010

Current Income Taxes

Federal
879000 189000

State
152459 3000 31000

Deferred Income Taxes

Federal
2188000 1827000 178000

State
224000 183000 18000

Total expense benefit 1.380.541 2007.000 416.000

The following is reconciliation of the reported amount of income tax expense benefit for the
years

ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 to the amount of

income tax expense benetit that would result from applying the statutory rate to
pretax

income loss

Reconciliation of
reported amount of income tax expense benefit

Year Ended

December_31 _______________________

2012 2011 2010

Income loss before taxes and NOL 3381211 5117791 1081306
Federal

statutory rate 35% 34% 34%
Taxes computed at federal

statutory rates 1183000 1740.000 368000
State taxes tiet of federal taxes 120000 174000 36.000
Debt discount

95.000
Other 77541 2.000 12000

Reported expense benefit 1380.541 2.007000 416.000

F-23



Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2012

income Taxes Icontiuedl

The components of the Companys deferred tax asset were as follows

Yenr Ended

December 31

2012 2011

Deferred Tax Assets Liabilities

Current

Deferred rent
16000 93000

Prepaid expenses
II 00 5000

Derivative liability

2072000

Net operating
loss

81000

Interest expense

1537000

Warrants issued as debt discount
135000

Other
7000 66.000

Current
1414000 2307000

Non-current

Fixed assets
418000 444000

Share based compensation
168000 17000

Investment in Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC 18000 91000

Interest expense
2818000

Warrants issued as debt discount
2470X

Deferred rent
127000 94000

Other
11000

Non-current
2441000 460000

Total deferred tax assets liabilities
3855.000 1847000

The Company has no liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits

The Companys policy
is to recognize potential

interest and penalties
accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense benefit For the

years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the Company did not recognize any interest or penalties in the consolidated statement of operations nor did the Company

have any interest or penalties accrued in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2012 and 2011 relating to unrecognized benefits

At December 31 2011 the Company had net operating
loss

carry
forward for federal and state income tax purposes of $215000 which was used to offset taxable

income tbr the year ended December 31 2012

The 2011 2010 and 2009 tax
years

remain open to examination for federal income tax purposes and by the other major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is

subject

Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents trade receivables accounts payable and promissory notes The
carrying

amount of cash and

cash equivalents trade receivables and accounts payable approximate fair value because of their immediate or short-term maturities

F-24



Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2012

10 Fair Value

FASB ASC 820-10-55 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements

Fair value is defined under FASI3 ASC 820-10-55 as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer
liability an exit price in the

principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability
in an orderly

transaction between market participants on the measurement date Valuation techniques

used to measure fair value under FASB ASC 820-10-55 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs The standard

describes fair value of
hierarchy based on three levels of inputs of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable that may be used to

measure fair value

As of December 31 2012 the Company has no financial instruments measured at fair value on recurring basis in tie consolidated balance sheet Level liabilities

consist of the promissory notes see Note

The following schedule summarizes the valuation of financial instruments measured at fair value on recurring basis in the consolidated balance sheet as of

December 312011

Fair Value Measurements at December 31 2011 Using

Quoted Prices In Significant

Active Markets for significant Other Unobservable

Identical Assets Observable Inpuls Inputs

Level Level Level

Derivative Liability- current Liability 5540000

Level liability consists of an embedded derivative included in the new promissory notes issued on November 2011 see Note There were no transfers between

any of the fair value levels during the
years

ended December31 2012 and 2011

The following table provides reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the liability measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs

Level

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using Significant Unobservable Inputs

Level

Balance at December 31 2011 5.540000
Satislied through the Issuance of Promissory Noles and Common Stock 5540.000

Balance at December 31 2012

11 Merger Agreement

As of March 22 2012 the issued and outstanding common stock of Dakota Plains before the Initial Merger was converted into the right to receive an aggregate of

37014018 shares of the Companys common stock all of which were restricted securities under Role 144 Of those shares 530000 were restricted shares of the

Companys common stock issued under certain employment agreements in exchange for 530000 shares of
similarly

restricted Dakota Plains common stock In

addition the outstanding options issued by Dakota Plains before the Initial Merger were converted into
options to purchase an aggregate of 250000 shares of the

Companys common stock and the outstanding warrants issued by Dakota Plains before the Initial Merger were converted into warrants to purchase an aggregate of

4150000 shares of the Companys common stock The shareholders of the Company before the Initial Merger retained 640200 shares of common stock

representing approximately 1.7% of its outstanding shares of common stock immediately after the Initial Merger
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II Merger Agreement Icontinuedl

In March 2012 Dakota Plains Holdings Inc the surviving corporation from the Initial Merger and then wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company merged with

and into MCT Holding Corporation the Second Merger Pursuant to the plan of merger governing the Second Merger the Company changed its name from

MCT Holding Corporation to Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

12 Subsequent Events

On February 2013 the Companys board of directors appointed Craig McKenzie to serve as chainnan of the board chief executive officer and
secretary

of

Dakota Plains Holdings Inc effective immediately On the same date our board of directors increased the number of directors constituting our board of directors to

six directors with Mr McKenzie elected to serve in the newly created vacancy Gabriel Claypool who preceded Mr McKenzie in his positions
with the

Company continues to serve as member of the board of directors and as president and as of the same date our board of directors appointed him to serve in the

additional position of chief operating officer

The Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr McKenzie which has an initial term of three
years

and is eligible fi.r automatic renewal for

successive one-year terms Under his employment agreement Mr McKenzie is entitled to receive the following compensation and benefits

an initial annual base salary of $350000

an annual bonus with
target

of 200% of his annual base salary payable in cash equity or combination of the two subject to the discretion of our

compensation committee or board of directors and based on his meeting or exceeding mutually agreed upon performance goals

participation in our 401k profit sharing and other retirement plans available to all our employees

participation
in our health-related benefits and insurance plans

an initial restricted stock award of 300000 shares of our companys common stock in accordance with the terms and conditions of our 2011 Equity Incentive

Plan the Plan which award vests in equal installments upon the first second and third anniversaries of the date of his employment agreement and

an initial seven-year option to purchase 200000 shares of our companys common stock at an exercise price equal to fair market value as of the date of grant

in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan which option vests in
equal

installments upon the first second and third anniversaries of his

employment agreement

If Mr McKenzies employment is terminated by the Company for any reason other than for cause as defined in the agreement or by Mr McKenzie for good reason

as defined in the agreement then Mr McKenzie will he
eligible

to receive an amount equal to two times his annual salary in addition to other amounts accrued on

or betbre the date his employment is terminated
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS UNAUDITED

Quarterly data for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 is as follows

Quarter Ended

June 30 September 30 December 31

51407 56865

845421 .I. 794707

794014 737842
1071146 17064851

105474 5985000

171658 1034200

0.25

0.00 0.24

2011

Total Revenues

Expenses

Loss From Operations

Other income Expense

Income Tax Provision Benefit

Net Income Loss
Net Income Loss Per Common Share Basic

Net Income Loss Per Common Share.- Diluted

2010

Total Revenues

Expenses

Loss From Operations

Other Income Expense

Income Tax Provision Benefit

Net Income Loss ..

Net Income Loss Per Common Share Basic

Net IncomeLoss Per Common Share Diluted

March 31

28742

i3033
4291

3943
17000

267l4

0.00

0.00
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28742

20253
8489

25815

7000
.IjO326

0.00

000

September 30 December31

28742 77201

S6053 61649

57311 15552

242122 941983

71000 369000

113811 588535

0.00 0.02

000 002

March 31

2012

Total Revenues 80279

Expenses 800 669

Loss From Operations 720390
Other Income Expense

...
24624885

Income Tax Provision Benefit 9475400
Net Income Loss.... 15869875
Net Income Loss Per Common Share Basic 0.43
Net Income Loss Per Common Share Diluted 0.43

77932

626423

548491
5908414

2004385

3355538

0.08

0.08

Ouarler Ended

March11 June10 September10 December11

77202 77202 79897 80280

I66866 554892 789496 1043317

1591434 477690 709599 963037
488 176 39224 0199I0 2923341

433000 172000 121000 1523000
670258 266466 189311 2363378

0.02 0.01 0.01 0.07

002 001 000 007

Otiarter Ended
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L2Q
Independent Auditors Report

Board of Governors and Members

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related statements of
income members capital and cash flows for the

years then ended These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Companys management Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America Those standards require that we plan and performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes consideration of internal control
over financial

reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basisevidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by managementas well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above
present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the

years
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generallyaccepted in the United States of America

Is BDO USA LLP

13D0 USA LLP

Houston Texas

March 14 2013
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Dakota Petroleum Transport Solulions LLC
Annual Financial Statements

Balance Sheets

As of December31
2012 2011

Assets

Current assets

Cash

8883094 416548Accounts receivable

1141670Due from related parties

1468989Other receivables

286658Other current assØts

100097 250328Total current assets

10738838 4808546

Propert and equipment

Construction in process
1300126Leasehold Improvements

2067862 2087694Less Accumulated
depreciation

785416 326830Total
property and equipment net

2582572 1760864
Other Assets- Long-term

331269 250727

Total assets

13652 $. 6820137

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

2536083 517685Accounts payable related parties

81174 2076Total current liabilities

2617257 519761

Members capital

DP membercapital

5517711 3150188PTS member
capital

5517711 3150188Total members
capital

11035422 6300376

Total liabilities and members capital

13652679 6820137
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

Annual Financial Statements

Statcnients of Income

For the years ended December 31
2012 2011

Revenue

15884822 11799406

Cost of revenue

5217444 3294583

Gross profit

10667378 8504823

Operating expenses

Provision tbr had debts

451700

General and administrative

3754518 660425

Total operating expenses

4206218 660425

Income from operations

6461160 784

Non-operating income net

29873

Net income

6491033 7844398

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial
statements



Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC
Annual Financial Statements

Members Canital

DP PTS Total
EalanceDecember3l 2010

863 289 863 289 726578
Capital contributions

161972 161972 323944Net mcome
922199 922 199 844 398

Distributions

1797272 1797272 3594544

BalanceDecember3l 2011
3150188 3150188 6300376

Capital contributions

85563 85563 171126Net income
a245s Il 3245 516 6491033Distributions

963557 963556 1927113Balance December 31 2012
ssiii 5517711 11035422

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

Annual Financial Statements

Statements of Cash Flows

For the yeors ended December 3/

2012 2011

Cash flows from operating aetivitiest

Net income

6491033 7844398

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Non-cash member contributions rental expense

171126 323944

Amortization

128427 237254

Depreciation

458586 326830

Provision for bad debt
451700

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

689970 173587

Due from related parties

1468989

Other receivables

286658

Other current assets

150231 23323

Deferred rental expense

208969 36563

Accounts payable

1773833 251185

Accounts payable-related parties

79098 144067

8.429388 8606071

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment

1035729 1955278

Cash flows front financing activities

Distributions to members
1927113 3594544

Net increase in cash

5466546 3056249

Cash beginning of period

3416548

Cash at end of period

8883094 34l.548

Supplemental Schedule of Non-cash Investing Activities

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had accrued capital expenditures totaling $376981 and $132416 respectively which were recorded in accounts

payable
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial

statements
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Notes to Financial Statement

Nature of Business

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC the Company Minnesota limited
liability company was organized on September 25 2009 and is referred to aswe our and us The Company is an equally owned joint venture between Dakota Plains Transloading LIC wholly owned

subsidiary of Dakota PlainsHoldings Inc formerly Dakota Plains Transport Inc and Dakota Plains Inc Minnesota limited
liability company DPT and Petroleum Transport SolutionsLLC Minnesota limited

liability company PTS Each member made an initial contribution of $50000 in exchange for 1000 membership units for total of2000 member units issued and outstanding Each unit entitles the members to one vote on all matters submitted The Company intends to continue to
operate so as to

qualify as
partnership

for United States federal and state income tax purposes

The Company was organized to engage in the acquisition construction and operation of petroleum transloading facility in New Town North Dakota On June2012 DPT entered into an amended and restated member control agreement with PTS and Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC The amended and restatedmember control agreement among other things incorporates all previous amendments and supplements extends the initial term until December 31 2021 and theterm will
automatically extend in two-year renewal periods unless and until terminated

Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America GAAP

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investments with
insignificant interest rate risk and

original maturities to the Company of three months or less to be cashequivalents The Companys cash positions represent assets held in checking accounts These assets are
generally available to the Company on daily or weeklybasis and are highly liquid in nature All of the Companys non-interest bearing cash accounts were

fully insured at December 31 2012 due to temporary federalprogram in effect from December 31 2010 through December 31 2012 Under the program there was no limit to the amount of insurance for
eligible accounts OnJanuary 2013 insurance coverage reverted to $250000 per depositor at each financial

institution and the Companys non-interest bearing cash balances exceededthe
federally insured limits

Use of Estimates

The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assetsand liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period Such
significant estimates include

recoverability of property and equipment and depreciable lives for property and equipment Actual results maydiffer from those estimates

Fair Value of Financial Instrumegs

The
carrying amounts of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value based on the short maturities of these instruments



Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

Notes to Financial Statement

oncentratioll of Risk

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company had revenues from OPTS Marketing LLC related
party through common ownership of approximately $14.0

million 89% of total revenues and as of December 31 2012 it also had receivables due from related parties
from the same customer totaling $1468989 For the

year ended December 31 2011 the Company had revenues from an unrelated customer that represented approximately 99% of total revenues and as of December

31 2011 it also had accounts receivable from that customer in the amount of $1141670

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Bad Debt

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and adjusts
credit limits based upon payment history

and the customers current credit worthiness

as determined by review of the customers credit information The Company extends credit on an unsecured basis to its customers Accounts receivable are deemed

past
due based on contractual terms agreed with its customers

The Company continuously monitors collections and payments from its customers and maintains provision for estimated credit losses based upon its historical

experience with its customers current market and industry conditions of its customers and any specific customer collection issues that it has identified Accounts

receivable are reduced by an allowance for estimated credit losses No allowance for doubtful accounts was recorded at December 31 2012 and 2011

Accounts receivable are written-off when it becomes apparent
based upon age or customer circumstances that such amounts will not be collected For the year ended

December 31 2012 the Company wrote-off $451 700 of receivables related to former customer

Accounts Payable

At December 31 2012 portion
of the accounts payable balance was attributed to the net liability relating to the amount of cost the Company expects to pay for

cleanup measures in excess of the estimated amount of cost that it reasonably expects to recover from the third parties responsible
for causing the incidents on its

property As of December 31 2012 the Company has paid approximately $2.0 million in invoiced costs and estimates its total cost exposure to be approximately

$2.7 million Both the gross liability and the estimated recoverable amount are reviewed and updated on monthly basis As of December 31 2012 the Company has

recovered $85272 from the responsible
third parties

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the related services are performed the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured The Company records

the
gross

sale of fuel-related services when the transloading
of petroleum-related products are complete

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the assets Assets recorded under leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the remaining

term of the amended and restated member control agreement Title to all leasehold improvements revert to the landlord at the end of the lease term Costs of mjor

additions and improvements are capitalized
while expenditures for maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful life of the asset are expensed Upon sale

or disposition
of property

and equipment the cost and related accumulated depreciation
and amortization are eliminated from the
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accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to income

For the
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had fixed assets related to in progress construction of $1300126 and land leasehold improvementsof $132416 respectively As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had leasehold improvements placed in service of $2067862 and $1955278

respectively Depreciation expense for the
years ended Iecember 31 2012 and 2011 was $458586 and $326830 respectively

Impairment

FASB ASC 360-10-35-21 requires that
long-lived assets to be held and used be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable There was no impairment identified at December 31 2012 and 2011

Income Taxes

The Company intends to continue to operate so as to qualify for United States federal and state income tax purposes as partnership Therefore the Company
generally is not

subject to United States federal income tax at the
entity level Its members will be

required to take into account their allocable share of each item of
the Companys income gain or loss and credits for its taxable year ending within or with their taxable year for federal or state income tax purposes

Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 14 2013 which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued

Related Party Transactions

Per the Companys Member Control Agreement the Agreement DPI and PTS are to perform the following services

Services to be performed bi DPT

Acquire the real property necessary for operation of the
transloading facility and for rail spur services between the

transloading facility and the
available trunk rail line

Acquire equipment and materials pay contractors acquire permits and assemble and erect the transloading facility

Lease the
transloading facility as well as any necessary equipment for operation of the

transloading facility to the Company at set rent paymentterms As per the amended and restated Lease Agreement DPI received monthly base rent of $19161 through May 2012 and will receive monthlybase rent of $31881 beginning June 2012 through the term of the Lease Agreement

Services to be performed by PTS

Make available an amount of rail cars sufficient for the Company to be able to service the
transloading facility at throughput volume of 10000

barrels per day for which PTS charges the Company $33750 per month Beginning in
July

2011 and continuing through the term of the AgreementDPTS Marketing LLC related
party through common ownership assumed the railcar

leasing liability

Coordinate and manage the operation of the
transloading facility and all accounting and bookkeeping functions in connection with the operation of

the
transloading facility The Company paid monthly

10



Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

Notes to Financial Statement

accounting fee of $2800 through October 2011 and currently pays monthly accounting fee of $5000 per
month to PTS for staff time related to the

bookkeeping and accounting functions eftŁctive until December 31 2012 except the rate shall continue beyond December 31 2012 if the
parties

fail

to agree upon new rate

See Note for disclosures regarding concentration of risk revenues and accounts receivable accounting policies

The operations
of the transloading facility

commenced in November 2009 Under provisions
of the Agreement the profits

and losses of the joint venture are split

50/50 pro rata based oil the number of member units outstanding The cash payments from the joint venture are paid pro rata based upon the average number of units

owned by each member each calendar day during such calendar quarter En connection with joint venture transactions during the
years

ended December 31 2012 and

2011 the Company recognized related party
costs of revenue totaling $490100 and $959441 respectively In connection with joint venture transactions during each

olthe years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company recognized related

party general
and administrative expenses of $66600 and $33600 respectively

Supplemental Agreement

In September 2010 the members of the Company entered into Supplemental Agreement to the Agreement The purpose of the Supplemental Agreement was to

obtain access to site improvements and certain additional transloading equipment necessary to fullili certain transloading contracts Under tIle Supplemental

Agreement DPT agreed to provide funds for tile site iniproveilietits
The total costs incurred for these site improvements were $1320747

As part
of the Supplemental Agreement PTS was required

to pay all costs for the acquisition
of four new transloaders The total cost of these transioaders was

$658012 with an estimated residual value of $131602 at the end of the initial Agreement term

Tile Company recOgtliZed rental expense of $26995 per
month through May 31 2012 and is recognizing rental expense of $5164 per

month througll
December 31

2021 to reflect the econonlics of tile $1052820 ofcosts incurred by its members Total rent expense related to these costs was $171126 and $323944 for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively No cash has been paid related to this rental expense tlle rental expense
recorded is being treated as an increase in

the members investment in tile Company

In order to render fair and equitable
tile leases for tile additional expenditures by the members relating to the site improvements and new equipment tile Supplemental

Agreement included provision
that the Company will pay

75% of the cash distributions to DPi until DPT has been reimbursed for these additional expenditures

The additional expenditures by DPT would also incur interest at an interest rate of 7% per annum until paid in full Atler DPT has been reimbursed tIle cash

distributions reverted back to the 50/50 split as per the Agreement Only tile cash distributions were changed uilder the Supplemental Agreement tIle profit and loss

allocations remained the same as the Agreement As of December 31 2012 the Company had reimbursed the full $794337 of additional expenditures related to the

Supplemental Agreement and paid interest of $16826 in the year ended December 31 2011 to DPT

The $794337 of additional costs incurred by DPT in excess of amounts paid by PTS will be recognized as rental expense over the remaining life of tile joint venture

of which $128427 and $237254 was expensed during the years
etided December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the

Company has paid $372225 and $500654 respectively in lease payments in excess of the amount reported
as expense The amount is included in other current

assets and other assets long-term on the balance sheet with the amount to be expensed in the next twelve months recorded as current asset There are no future

lease payments payable related to this agreemeilt as of December 31 2012 and 2011

11
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The Company had accounts payable to related parties of $81174 and $2076 as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Commitments and
Contingencies

Litigation

The Company is engaged in proceedings incidental to the normal course of business Due to their nature such legal proceedings involve inherent
uncertainties

including but not limited to court rulings negotiations between affected
parties and governmental intervention Based upon the information available to theCompany and discussions with

legal counsel it is the Companys opinion that the outcome of the various
legal actions and claims that are incidental to its businesswill not have material impact on the financial position results of operations or cash flows Such matters however are subject to many uncertainties and theoutcome of

any matter is not predictable with assurance

Since October 2012 the Company has been involved in
litigation with TJMD LLP North Dakota limited

liability partnership TJMD arising out of thetermination of TJMD as operator of the
transloading facility

in which the Company leases the
facility for the use and benefit of their business TJMD

alleges thatwrongful termination without cause on 90-days written notice occurred in June 2012 under the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and secondwrongful termination occurred in September 2012 when the Company finally terminated the contract before the end of the 90-day period TJMD is seeking paymentfor work performed prior to the final September termination as well as monetary damages for future losses and other relief Because the outcome of litigation is
inherently uncertain we cannot estimate the

possible loss or range of loss for this matter We intend to vigorously defend
against this claim As of December 312012 we have not recorded

any accruals associated with this
legal claim

12
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Boo
Independent Auditors Report

Board of Govemors and Members

DPTS Marketing LLC

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of DPTS Marketing LLC as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related statements of income members
capital and cash flows for the periods then ended and the related notes to the financial statements These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companysmanagement Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards

generally accepted in the United States of America Those standards
require that we plan and performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes consideration of internal controlover financial

reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate

in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also includes examining on test basisevidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managementas well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above
present fairly in all material respects the financial position of DPTS Marketing LLC as of December 312012 and 2011 and the results of its

operations and ts cash flows for the periods then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in theUnited States of America

/s BOO USA LLP

BOO USA LLP

Houston Texas

March 14 2013



Financial Statements



DPTS Marketing LLC

Balance Sheets

As of December31
2012 2011

Assets

Current assets

Cash
45522940 20800 308

Prepaid fuel and expenses
399892

Due from Trading Member
3476554 6013299

Total current assets
49399386 26813607

Total assets ..
49399386 2813607

Liabilities

Current liabilities ..

Accounts payable
1369704 2184849

Accounts payable related parties
2579732

Total current liabilities

3949436 2184849

Non current liabilities

Preferred return payable to members
1638356 635616

Total liabilities

5587792 2820465

Members capital

DPmembercapital
21905797 II 996571

PTS member capital
21905797 11996571

Total members capital
43811594 23993142

Total liabilities and members capital
49399386 26813.607

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Income

Inception

January 2012 to 292011 to

December 31 December 31

For the period from
2012 201

Trading comnlission income
79008731 9117898

Cost of revenue
56609756 3948.844

Cross profit

22398975 5.169.054

Operating eNpenses

General and administrative expenses
1325895 226871

rading general and administrative expenses
209404 258342

Total operating expenses

1535299 485211

Income froiii operations
20863676 46113841

Tradlngotherexpenseflet
42484 55.283

Net income
20821192 4628558

Rtlurn of members preferred
contributions

002140 635 616

Earnings available for members
19818452 3992.942

The accoinpafljing notes are an integral part of these financial
statements
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Statements of Members Capital

DP PTS

Members Members Total DP Members Members Total PTS

Capital Preferred Capital Capital Preferred Capital Total Capital

BalanceApril2920l1 100 S. 100 .$ 100 100 200

Contributions 10000000 10000000 10000000 10000000 20000000

Earnings available for members

Net income 2314279 2314279 2314279 2314279 4628558

Preferred returns 317808 317808 317808 317808 635616
Earnings available for members 1996.471 1996471 1996471 1996471 3992942

Balance Deceiibcr 312011 ... 1996.571 $10000000 $11996571 ..$ 1996571 000000 S1199571 23993142

Earnings available for members

Netincome 10410596 10410596 .4Q59 10410596 20821192

Preferred returns 501.370 501370 501370 501370 1002740
Earnings available for members.. 9909226 9909226 9909226 9909226 .19818452

Balance December 31 2012 $1 1905.797 $1 0.000000 $21905797 $1 1905797 $10000000 $21905797 43811594

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statements of Cash Flows

Inception

January 2012 to April 292011 to

December 31 December II

Ir the Period from
2012 2011

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Larnings available for members 19818452 3992942

Adjustments to reconcile earnings available for members to net cash provided by operating

activities

Prelrred return payable to members 1002740 635.616

Changes in assets and liabilities

Prepaid fuel and expenses
399892

Accounts payable
815145 2184849

Accounts payable related parties
2579732

Due om trading member 2536745 6.013.299

Net cash provided by operating activities
24.722.632 800 108

Cash Flows Irons Financing Activities

Member contributions
20.000200

Net cash provided by financing
activities

20.000.200

Net increase in cash 24722632 20800308

ash at beginning of period
20801308

ash at end of period
45522940 20.800.308

The acCOflIjafl ring notes are an integral part o/the.sL Inancial .ctaknteflt.c
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Notes to Financial Statement

Nature of Business and Joint Venture Agreement

DPTS Marketing LLC the Company Minnesota limited liability company was organized on April 29 2011 and is referred to as we our and us The

Company is an equally owned joint venture between Dakota Plains Marketing LLC wholly owned
subsidiary

of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc formerly Dakota

Plains Inc and Dakota Plains Transport Inc Minnesota corporation DP and Petroleum Transport Solutions Minnesota limited liability company
PTS Each member made an initial contribution of $100 in exchange for 1000 membership units for total of 2000 member units issued and outstanding Each

unit entitles the members to one vote on all matters submitted Under provisions of the DPTS Marketing LLC Member Control Agreement the profits and losses of

the joint venture are split 50/50 pro rata based on the number of member units outstanding The cash payments from the
joint venture are paid pro rata based upon

the average number of units owned by each member each calendar day during such calendar quarter

Each of the members was also
required

to make an initial member
preferred contribution of $10000000 in May of 2011 to support the Trading Activities of the

Company Upon written agreement of all the members the members will make such additional member preferred contributions as are agreed upon All member

preferred contributions received shall entitle the member to receive cumulative
preferred retum of 5% per annum which preferred return will be paid in cash on

quarterly basis subject to there being cash available Members shall begin to receive distributions in respect to their outstanding member
preferred

contributions on

quarterly basis promptly following the
quarter

ended December 31 2021 The Company has made no payments as of December 31 2012

The Company was organized to engage in the purchase sale storage transport and marketing of hydrocarbons produced within North Dakota to or from refineries

and other end-users or persons and to conduct
trading

activities On June 20t2 the Company amended and restated its member control agreement The amended
and restated member control agreement among other things incorporates all previous amendments extends the initial term until December 31 2021 and the term

will automatically extend in two-year renewal
periods unless and until terminated

During the term of the agreement one of the members Trading Member which shall initially be PTS acting itself or through one or more of its affiliates shall

perform and be solely responsible
for purchasing selling storing transporting marketing and

transacting
trades in North Dakota crude oil and entering into related

agreements and conducting related activities on behalf of the Company the Trading Activities All Trading Activities in North Dakota crude oil involving

transportation by rail and
requiring transloading shall be required to be transloaded at the New Town North Dakota facility owned by Dakota Plains Transloading

LLC wholly owned subsidiary of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc unless otherwise agreed upon by the members Trading Activities may without limitation consist

of physical and/or financial transactions including hedging or other financial arrangements not involving the actual
trading

of any physical North Dakota crude oil

provided however that such financial transactions must he entered into for risk management purposes and must not involve the assumption of any flat price risk The

Trading Member shall be
solely responsible for employing and compensating employees that execute transactions constituting Trading Activities and for providing

office space and necessary information technology equipment for such employees to conduct the Trading Activities

Unless otherwise approved by each member the Trading Members
ability

to engage in Trading Activities shall be subject to the following limitations

each individual transaction shall be subject to maximum volume of five thousand 5000 barrels per day and maximum term of twelve 12
months provided that such maximum volume may be increased to ten thousand 10000 barrels per day and such maximum term may be increased to twenty-four

24 months for any individual transaction with the approval of each Members Authorized Person

ii the aggregate portfolio limit in
respect

of Trading Activities shall be twenty-five
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thousand 25000 barrels per day of purchases and/or sales

iii the maximum outright flat price volume exposure in
respect

of Trading Activities at any time shall be twenty-five thousand 25000 barrels

either long or short and

iv all Trading Activities shall he transacted through segregated sub-accounts reviewed by independent auditors on quarterly
basis The Trading

Member also
agrees

to provide such documents and information as are reasonably reqtiested
to allow all members to complete quarterly

financial reviews and annual

audits of all Trading Activities for their own financial
reporting purposes

All Trading Activities are conducted in the name of the Trading Member therefore the Trading Activities are recorded in the books and records of the Trading

Member Uowever the net
profit or loss of the Trading Activities along with any credit losses will be passed through from the Trading Member to the Company as

Trading Commission Income

In September 2012 the Company entered into master service agreement with Dakota Plains Service LLC DPS who is service contractor engaged in the

business of providing trucking transportation logistics and related services The initial term of the agreement will last until December 31 2021 unless earlier

tcniiinated

As part
of the master service agreement the Company agreed to provide DPS with certain minimum monthly volumes which are based on the Volume Freely

Transported VFT of the Company VFT is the volume of crude oil transported by road or on behalf of the Company excluding any volume required
to be

transported by third party at the explicit
direction of producer or marketer calculated by daily volume

The minimum monthly volumes are calculated as follows

When VET is 17000 barrels per day or lower the lesser of 70% of VFT and 8000 barrels per day or

ii When VET is
greater

than 14000 barrels per day 70% of VFT

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
in the Ijnited States of America GAAP

Cash and ash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid
investments with insignificant interest rate risk and original maturities to the Company of three months or less to be cash

equivalents The Companys cash positions represent
assets held in checking accounts These assets are generally available to the Company on daily or weekly

basis and are highly liquid in nature All of the Companys non-interest bearing cash accounts were fully insured at December 31 2012 due to temporary tºderal

prograisi
in effect from December 31 2010 through December 31 2012 Under the program there is no limit to the amount of insurance for eligible accounts On

January 2013 insurance coverage reverted to $250000 per depositor at each financial institution and the Companys non-interest bearing cash balances exceeded

federally insured limits

Use of Estimates

The preparation
of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period Actual results may
differ from those estimates

Receivables from Trading Member

The Company has receivables Due from Trading Member representative
of transactions conducted by the Trading Member on behalf and for the benefit of DPTS

Marketing LLC

As of December 31 2012 the Company has Due from Trading Member of $3476554 This balance is comprised of the net of $61855815 of assets of which

$43961956 represents accounts receivables net of allowance for bad debt and $58379261 of liabilities

As of December 31 2011 the Company had Due from Trading Member of $6013299 This balance was comprised of the net of $39854560 of assets of which

$39107523 represented accounts receivables net of allowance for bad debt and $33841261 of liabilities
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue is
represented on the financial statements as Trading Commission Income from the Trading Member This Trading Commission Income is net of costs of the

Trading Activities conducted by the Trading Member and is recognized when the product is delivered the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is

reasonably assured

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company recognized Trading Commission Income of $79008731 which represents he net of $793739408 of revenue

and $714730677 of costs of revenue of the Trading Activities performed by the Trading Member on behalf of the Company

For the period from inception April 29 2011 to December 31 2011 the Company recognized Trading Commission Income of $9117898 which represented the

net of $255319689 of revenue and $246201791 of costs of revenue of the Trading Activities performed by the Trading Member on behalf of the Company

Concentration of Risk

The revenue recorded by the Trading Member relating to Trading Activities for the period ended December 31 2012 consisted of total of nineteen customers of

which five customers accounted for approximately 80% of the total revenue For the period ended December 31 2011 the Company had total of five customers of

which three customers accounted for approximately 92% of the total revenue

The cost of revenue recorded by the Trading Member
relating to Trading Activities for the period ended December 31 2012 consisted of total of twenty-four

suppliers of which four suppliers accounted for approximately 70% of the total cost of revenue For the period ended December 31 2011 the Company had total of

six suppliers of which three
suppliers accounted for approximately 83% of the total cost of revenue

material reduction in revenue to these customers or material crude disruption from these suppliers may adversely affect the results of the Trading Activities

which are passed through to the Company by the Trading Member

Income Taxes

The Company intends to continue to operate so as to qualify for United States federal and state income tax purposes as partnership Therefore the Company
generally

is not subject to United States federal income tax at the entity level Its members will be required to take into account their allocable share of each item of

our income gain or loss and credits for our taxable year ending within or with their taxable year for federal or state income tax purposes

Subsequent Eets

Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 14 2013 which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued

Related Party Transactions

Commencing with the first calendar month during which the Company takes
physical delivery of North Dakota crude oil the Company shall pay to PTS the

Trading Member an amount equal to $0.08 per barrel the Charge of North Dakota crude oil subject to Trading Activities during such month provided that

from and after such time the Trading Member shall be entitled to receive minimum monthly Charge calculated assuming

10
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minimum volume of live thousand 5000 barrels
per day in Trading Activities In the event the Trading Member does not engage in any Trading Activities for three

consecutive months then such minimum monthly Charge shall be suspended until the month during which Trading Activities resume Furthennore accounting

and bookkeeping services for the Company including
the calculation of the amounts of outstanding member preferred contributions the amounts of preferred

returns if any the distribution percentage and amounts payable to the members shall be perfonned by the Trading Member at rate equal to $00225 per
barrel for

every barrel of crude oil successfully
marketed by the Company through March 31 2012 and $0.06

per
barrel for every barrel of crude oil marketed beginning on

April 12012

In connection with trading and accounting fees during the periods ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company recorded related party general
and

administrative expenses of$l0l 1449 and $163106 respectively

Beginning July 2011 and continuing through the term of the agreement the Company assumed the railcar leasing liability
of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions

LLC related
party through ownership In addition the Company entered into an agreement to sublease from the Trading Member all railcars necessary to conduct

the trading activities on behalf of the Company In accordance with the sublease agreement the Company shall assume all the terms and responsibilities
of the

original lease which includes freight costs maintenance and storage For the periods ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company recognized rail car costs of

$7652664 and $3948844 respectively

11



Exhibit 10.17

AMENDMENT NO.1 TO

DAKOTA PETROLEUM TRANSPORT SOLUTIONS LLC

AMENDED AND RESTATED MEMBER CONTROL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO this Amendment is made effective as of August 30 2012 by and between Dakota Plains Transloading LLC Minnesota

limited
liability company DPT Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Minnesota limited liability company PTS and Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions

LLC Minnesota limited liability company the Company

RECITALS

DPT PTS and the Company constitute all of the parties to that certain Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Amended and Restated

Member Control Agreement dated as of June 12012 the Agreement

Section 10.5 of the Agreement provides that the Agreement may be amended only upon the written agreement of all of the members of the

Company

DPT and PTS constitute all of the members of the Company and

DPT PTS and the Company desire to amend the Agreement as set forth in this Amendment

AGREEMENTS

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the foregoing the mutual terms covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement and other good and

valuable consideration the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged the parties hereto agree as follows

SECTION Capitalized Terms
Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Amendment have the meanings ascribed to them in the

Agreement

SECTION Amendment Section 7.10 of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows

7.10 Other Ventures Any Member may engage in or possess any interest in any other ventures or businesses of any nature or

description independently or with others without limitation including ventures or businesses which may engage in business transactions with the

Company provided such transactions with the Company are commercially reasonable Neither the Company nor any other Member shall have

right by virtue of this Company to participate in any way in any such other venture or the income or profits derived therefrom Notwithstanding the

foregoing each Member agrees that it will not and it will not permit its affiliates to during the period it is Member of the Company and for one

year thereafter directly or indirectly participate as owner investor manager or consultant in any hydrocarbon transloading facility anywhere in

North Dakota except through the Company provided however that PTS and its atlihiates are expressly permitted to participate in facility that

transloads any material other than crude oil and IPT and its affiliates are expressly permitted to participate in facility that transloads
exclusively

natural gas



SECTION Continued Effectiveness of Agreement Except as expressly amended by this Amendment the Agreement shall remain in hill force and

eftct

SECTION Reference to Agreement Each reference in the Agreement to this Agreement herein hereot hereunder or words of like import shall

mean and refer to the Agreement as amended by this Amendment No reference to this Amendment need be made in any instrument or document at any time

referring to the Agreement and any such reference to the Agreement shall be deemed reference to the Agreement as amended by this Amendment

SECTION Contingent Contract This Agreement is contingent upon the execution and delivery of an Amendment No to DPTS Marketing LLC

Amended and Restated Member Control Agreement the Other Amendment If no such Other Amendment is
fully

executed and delivered this contract will be

null and void

SECTION Counterparts This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which

shall constitute one and the same instrument The electronic or facsimile transmission of signature page by one party
to the others shall constitute valid execution

and acceptance of this Amendment by the signing/transmitting party

SECTION Governing Law This Amendment is governed by and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Minnesota

applicable to contracts made and lobe performed entirely
within such State without regard to the conflicts of law principles of such State

Page Follows



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Members have executed this Amendment effective as of the date first above written

DAKOTA PETROLEUM TRANSPORT

SOLUTIONS LLC

Is Ronald Crowell

By Ronald Crowell

Its Treasurer

DAKOTA PLAINS TRANSLOADING LLC

Is Gabriel Claypool

By Gabriel Claypool

its Chief Executive Officer

PETROLEUM TRANSPORT SOLUTIONS LLC

Is Ronald Crowell

By Ronald Crowell

Its Sr Vice President-Finance

Signature Page to Amendment IIo Ito

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC

mended and Restated Member Control Agreement



Exhibit 10.18

AMENDMENT NO.1 TO

DPTS MARKETING LLC

AMENDED AND RESTATED MEMBER CONTROL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO this Amendment is made effective as of August 30 2012 by and between Dakota Plains Marketing L1C Minnesota

limited liability company DPM Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Minnesota limited liability company PUS and DP IS Marketing LLC Minnesota

limited liability company the Company

RECITALS

DPM P1S and the Company constitute all of the parties to that certain Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Amended and Restated

Member Control Agreement dated as of June 2012 the Agreement

13 Section 10.5 of the Agreement provides that the Agreement may be amended only upon the written agreement of all of the members of the

Company

DPM and PTS constitute all of the members of the Company and

DPM PTS and the Company desire to amend the Agreement as set forth in this Amendment

AGREEMENTS

NOW THEREFORE ill consideration of the foregoing the mutual terms covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement and other good and

valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged the
parties

hereto agree as follows

SECTION Canitalized Terms Capitalized terms used hut not otherwise defined in this Amendment have the meanings ascribed to them in the

Agreement

SECTION Amendment Section 7.10 of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows

7.10 Other Venture Any Member may engage in or possess any interest in any other ventures or businesses of any nature or

description independently or with others including ventures or businesses which may engage in business transactions with the Company provided

such transactions with the Company are commercially reasonable Neither the Company nor any other Member shall have right by virtue of his

Company to participate in any way in any such other venture or the income or profits
derived therefrom Notwithstanding the foregoing each

Member agrees that it will not and it will not permit its Affiliates to during the period it is Member of the Company and for one year thereafter

directly or indirectly purchase sell store transport or market crude oil or natural gas originating
from production fields anywhere in North lakota

or conduct any trading
activities related thereto except through the Company provided however that DPM and its Affiliates are expressly

permitted to transport any materials including crude oil or natural gas by road



SECTION Continued Effectiveness of Agrement Except as expressly amended by this Amendment the Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect

SECTION Reference to Agreement Each reference in the Agreement to this Agreement herein hereof hereunder or words of like import shall

mean and refer to the Agreement as amended by this Amendment No reference to this Amendment iieed be made in any instrument or document at any time

referring to the Agreement and any such reference to the Agreement shall be deemed reference to the Agreement as amended by this Amendment

SECTION Contingent Contract This Agreement is contingent upon the execution and delivery of an Amendment No to Dakota Petroleum Transport
Solutions LLC Amended and Restated Member Control Agreement the Other Amendment If no such Other Amendment is

fully executed and delivered this

contract will be null and void

SECTION Counterm.arts This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which
shall constitute one and the same instrument The electronic or facsimile transmission of signature page by one party to the others shall constitute valid execution
and acceptance of this Amendment by the signingltransmitting party

SECTION Governing Law This Amendment is governed by and shalt be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Minnesota

applicable to contracts made and to be performed entirely within such State without regard to the conflicts of law
principles of such State

Page Follows



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Members have executed this Amendment effective as of the date lirst above written

DPTS MARKETING LLC

Is Carlos Cuervo

By Carlos Cuervo

Its Chief Manager

DAKOTA PLAINS MARKETING LLC

Is Gabriel Claypool

By Gabriel Claypool

Its Chief Executive Oflicer

PETROLEUM TRANSPORT SOLUTIONS LLC

Is Ronald Crowell

By Ronald Crowd

its Sr Vice President-Finance

Signature Page to Amendment No to

DPiS Marketing LLC

Amended and Resaied Member control Agreement



Exhibit 21.1

List of Subsidiaries

____________________________________
Jurisdiction Ownership Interest

Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions LLC Minnesota 50%

Dakota Plains Marketing LLC Minnesota 100%

Dakota Plains Transloading LLC Minnesota 10%

Dakota Plaitis Trucking LLC Minnesota 100%

Dakota Plains Service LLC Minnesota 50%

Dakota Plains Storage LLC
Minnesota 100%

DPTS Marketing LLC Minnesota .. 50%



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Indenendent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Wayzata MN

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration
Statement No 333-184046 on Form S-8 of our reports dated March 14 2013 relating to the

consolidated financial statements of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc and subsidiaries for the fiscal
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 and 2010 ii the financial

statements of Dakota Petroleum Transport Solutions Ll.C for the fiscal
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 and iii the financial statements of DPTS

Marketing LLC for the fiscal year ended Decenihcr 31 2012 and the
period

from April 29 201110 December 312011 each appearing in this annual report oil Form

10-K of Dakota Plains loldings Inc for the fiscal year ended December 31 2012

Is 13D0 USA LLP

13D0 USA LLP

houston TX

March 14 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14a OR 15d-14a OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Craig McKenzie certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the

periods presented in this
report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-l5e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period

in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period

covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this
report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal

control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process
summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant

role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 142013 By Is Craig McKenzie

Craig McKenzie

Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTiFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14a OR 15d-l4a OF

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Timothy Brady certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made

not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the

periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15O and I5d-l5f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period

in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period

covered by this report
based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal

control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant

role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 142013 By Is Timothy Brady

Timothy Brady

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Craig McKenzie certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002 that the Annual Report of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31
2012 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that

information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Date March 142013

By Is Craig McKenzie

Name Craig McKenzie

Title Chief Executive Officer

Timothy Brady certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002 that the Annual Report of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31
2012 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that

information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of Dakota Plains Holdings Inc

Date March 14 2013

By Is Timothy Brady

Name Timothy Brady

Title Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer


